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To be an exceptional Council which serves, manages and promotes the region using 
smart business practices. 
 

Mission 

Charters Towers Regional Council’s mission is to meet the needs of its Community 
through timely and economical provision of quality infrastructure and services by 
Councillors and staff who are dedicated to achieving excellence. 
 

Guiding Principles 

 Fairness; 
 Equity; 
 Transparency; 
 Accountability; 
 Sustainability; 
 Community service orientation; 
 Prudent fiscal management; 
 Generation of employment; 
 Accessibility; 
 Dynamic and adaptable;  
 Successful business enterprise; 
 Responsiveness to current economic conditions and community needs.  

 

Following the amalgamation of Charters Towers City Council and Dalrymple Shire Council 
a new conglomerate was born unlike either of the original entities.  We now have a 
dynamic, self-fulfilling community with a vast agricultural area surrounding a vibrant 
country town.    

We have an extensive road network, servicing the healthy industries of beef cattle and 
small crops and closer to town, gold mining and its associated manufacturing and services 
industries. 

The tyranny of distance, regulation and compliance has dictated that Council works 
smarter and strives for improved efficiency.   

The Council aims to meet its challenges by identifying the need for action, and fully 
committing itself to addressing that need to the limits of its resources. We continually 
check ourselves to make sure that we are working to the Corporate Plan, finalising core 
business operations and providing valued services to enhance the economy, the 
environment and the quality of life in our community. 

Ben Callcott 
Mayor, March 2009 
 

 

Council’s VisionCouncil’s Vision  



 

 

Page 3 

Following the March 2008 Local Government Election we found ourselves managing a new 
and very different municipality with a vastly different personality than either of its 
predecessors. 

Our first budget, the formulation of which had to begin immediately following the 
election, was purposely kept very general, as a pattern of expenditure for the new Council 
had not yet been experienced. 

We remained very conscious during the year of the cash-flow trends and monitored it 
carefully to conclude the year with a good financial result. 

Our learnings from the first fifteen months of operation enabled us to bring down a firm 
and much more precise budget to cover the 2009/2010 financial year. 

I feel that our performance for the period from March 2008 to 30 June 2009, services 
rendered, capital works completed and maintenance of the infrastructure we now have, is 
commendable. 

We are now focused on sustainable, productive governance and management into the 
coming years. 
 
Ben Callcott 
Mayor  

 

Mayor’s ReportMayor’s Report  
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CouncilCouncil  

Cr Ben CALLCOTT - Mayor  
Remuneration    $107,590 
Expenses     $       174 
Council Meetings attended             19 
Superannuation contributions  $         Nil 
 
Cr Bernie ROBERTSON - Deputy Mayor  
Remuneration    $  67,090 
Expenses     $        Nil 
Council Meetings attended            15 
Superannuation contributions  $        Nil 
 
Cr Frank BEVERIDGE 
Remuneration     $  53,800 
Expenses     $       469 
Council Meetings attended             19 
Superannuation contributions  $         Nil 
 
Cr David COLEMAN 
Remuneration    $  53,800 
Expenses     $        Nil 
Council Meetings attended            19 
Superannuation contributions  $        Nil 
 
Cr David CHAPMAN 
Remuneration     $  53,800 
Expenses     $        Nil 
Council Meetings attended            17 
Superannuation contributions  $        Nil 

 
Back (L – R) 
 
Cr Bernie Robertson 
(Deputy Mayor) 
 
Cr Frank Beveridge 
 
Cr David Coleman 
 
Cr David Chapman 
 
Front (L - R) 
 
Cr Barbara Robinson 
 
Mayor Cr Ben Callcott 
 
Cr Norah Vinson 

Cr Barbara ROBINSON 
Remuneration     $  53,800 
Expenses     $        Nil 
Council Meetings attended            19 
Superannuation contributions  $        Nil 
 
 
Cr Norah VINSON 
Remuneration     $  53,800 
Expenses     $       334 
Council Meetings attended             19 
Superannuation contributions  $         Nil 
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COUNCILLORS’ EXPENSES REIMBURSEMENT POLICY   

1) Commencement 

This policy will take effect from its adoption by resolution of Council’s General Meeting of 11 
June 2008. 

2) Purpose 

The purpose of this policy is to ensure that Councillors and the Mayor can receive 
reimbursement of reasonable expenses and be provided with necessary facilities in the 
performance of their roles. 

3) Definitions 

 Council Business:  This is official business conducted on behalf of, and approved by, 
Council where a Councillor is required to undertake certain tasks to satisfy legislative 
requirements or achieve business continuity for the Council. 

 Council Business should result in a benefit being achieved either for the local government 
and/or the local government area. 

Example: Council may decide that Council business includes civic ceremony duties 
such as opening a school fete. 

 Participating in a community group event or being a representative on a board not 
associated with Council is not regarded as Council Business. 

Expense: Expenses are payments made by Council to reimburse Councillors for 
their reasonable expenses incurred or to be incurred when discharging 
their duties as Councillors.  These payments are not regarded as 
remuneration.  The expenses may be either reimbursed to Councillors or 
paid direct by Council for something that is deemed a necessary cost or 
charge when performing their roles. 

Facility: Facilities provided by Councils to Councillors are the ‘tools of trade’ 
required to enable them to perform their duties with relative ease and at 
a standard appropriate to fulfill their professional role for the community. 

Reasonable: Council must make sound judgements and consider what is prudent, 
responsible and acceptable to its community when determining 
reasonable levels of facilities and expenditure.  The community expects 
limits and does not want to see excessive use or abuse of public funds. 

4) Statement of Principles 

This policy complies with the Statement of Principles, set out in the guidelines: 

Reasonable expenses reimbursement to Councillors 

 Public accountability and transparency 

 Public perceptions and community expectations 

 Equity and participation 

 No private benefit to be derived  

 Equity and Participation 

 

Council Council cont’dcont’d  
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Council Council cont’dcont’d  

EXPENSE CATEGORIES   

Professional Development Council will reimburse expenses incurred for: 

 mandatory professional development; 

 discretionary professional development deemed essential for 
the Councillor’s role to a limit of $5000.00 per Councillor per 
term; and 

 only with the express prior approval of such development 
expenses by Council. 

  
Travel as required to         
represent Council 

Council may reimburse local and in some cases interstate and 
overseas travel expenses (eg flights, car, accommodation, meals 
and associated registration fees) deemed necessary to achieve 
the business of Council where: 

 a Councillor is an official representative of Council and 

 the activity/event and travel have been endorsed by       
resolution of Council. 

    

  Councillors are to travel via the most direct route, using the 
most economical and efficient mode of transport. 

    

  Council will pay for reasonable expenses incurred for overnight 
accommodation when required. 

    

  NOTE:  Any fines incurred while travelling in Council owned 
vehicles or privately owned vehicles when attending Council 
business, will be the responsibility of the Councillor incurring the 
fine. 

    

Travel Bookings All Councillor travel approved by Council will be booked and paid 
for by Council. 

    

  Economy class is to be used where possible although Council 
may approve business class in certain circumstances. 

    

  Airline tickets are not transferable and can only be procured for 
the Councillor’s travel on Council business.  They cannot be 
used to offset other unapproved expenses.  (eg. Cost of partner 
or spouse accompanying the Councillor) 

PAYMENT OF EXPENSES 

Expenses will be paid to a Councillor through administrative processes approved by Council’s Chief 
Executive Officer subject to: 

 the limits outlined in this policy and 

 Council endorsement by resolution. 
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Council Council cont’dcont’d  

 

  
  

Travel transfer costs Any travel transfer expenses associated with Councillors travelling 
for Council approved business will be reimbursed. 

    

  Example: Trains, taxis, buses and ferry fares. 

Cab charge vouchers may also be used if approved by Council 
where Councillors are required to undertake duties relating to the 
business of Council. 

    

Private vehicle usage Councillors’ private vehicle usage may be reimbursed by Council if 
the: 

 travel has been endorsed by Council Resolution; 

 claim for mileage is substantiated with log book details; and 

 total travel claim does not exceed the cost of the same travel 
using economy flights plus the cost of taxi transfers. 

    

Accommodation All Councillor accommodation for Council business will be booked 
and paid for by Council.  Council will pay for the most economical 
deal available.  Where possible, the minimum standards for       
Councillors’ accommodation should be three or four star rating. 

    

  Where particular accommodation is recommended by conference 
organisers, Council will take advantage of the package deal that is 
the most economical and convenient to the event. 

    

Meals A local government will reimburse costs of meals for a Councillor 
when: 

    

   the Councillor incurs the cost personally and 

 the meal was not provided: 

-  within the registration costs of the approved activity/event 

- during an approved flight.  

  
  The following limits apply to the amount Council will reimburse for 

meals: 
    

  -         Breakfast $19.60 

   - Lunch  $20.05 

            -         Dinner $34.55 unless otherwise approved on a                  
specific basis by Council 

   - No alcohol will be paid for by Council. 
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Council Council cont’dcont’d  

Incidental Allowance Other actual expenses may be paid by Council to cover any      
incidental costs incurred by Councillors required to travel, and who 
are away from home overnight, for official Council business,       
provided documentation including but not limited to receipts is     
received and approved by Council. 

    

ADDITIONAL EXPENSES FOR 
THE MAYOR 

 

Hospitality   Council may reimburse the Mayor up to $1,000 per annum for     
hospitality expenses deemed necessary in the conduct of Council 
business. 

    

PROVISION OF FACILITIES All facilities provided to Councillors remain the property of Council 
and must be returned to Council when a Councillor’s term expires. 

    

Private use of Council owned 
facilities 

Based on the principle that no private benefit is to be gained the 
facilities provided to Councillors by the Council are to be used only 
for Council business unless prior approval has been granted by 
Resolution of Council. 

    

  The Council Resolution authorising private use of Council owned 
facilities will set out the term under which the Councillor will     
reimburse Council for the percentage of private use.  This will apply 
when Councillors have private use of Council owned motor vehicles 
and/or mobile telecommunication devices. 

    

  Notwithstanding the above, any and all costs incurred by virtue of 
the Mayor’s garaging of the vehicle assigned to him and its use for 
travel for and, in association with, Council’s business shall be borne 
by Council. 

    

FACILITIES CATEGORIES   

Administrative tools Administrative tools may be provided to Councillors as required to 
assist Councillors in their role. 

    

  Administrative tools include: 

   office space and meeting rooms 

 computers 

 stationery 

 access to photocopiers 

 printers 

 facsimile machines 

 publications 

 use of Council landline telephones and internet access in   
Council offices. 
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Council Council cont.cont.  

  Secretarial support may also be provided for the Mayor and         
Councillors. 

  Council may provide a Councillor with home office equipment     
including computer and internet access if necessary. 

    

Maintenance costs of Council 
owned equipment 

Council will be responsible for the ongoing maintenance and      
reasonable wear and tear costs of Council owned equipment that is 
supplied to Councillors for official business use. 

  This includes the replacement of any facilities which will fall under 
Council’s asset replacement program. 

    

Name Badge Council will provide Councillors with: 

   a name badge 

Safety equipment for         
Councillors 

 the necessary safety equipment for use on official business eg. 
safety helmet/boots. 

 
Use of Council vehicles on 
Council business 

Councillors may have access to a Council vehicle for official       
business. 

    

Private use of vehicles Private use of Council owned vehicles is permitted if prior approval 
has been granted by Resolution of Council.  Council will, in its    
Resolution authorise private use, set out the terms for the Council-
lor to reimburse Council for private use. 

    

Telecommunication needs – 
mobile devices 

Mobile telecommunication devices owned by Council may be used 
by Councillors for official Council business use. 

  Where Council deems it necessary to acquire new mobile devices 
due to the new local government structure, extra facilities may be 
approved by Council Resolution. 

    

  Example: Mobile telephones or hand-held personal digital        
assistants (ie ‘Blackberry’) 

    

Insurance cover Council will indemnify or insure Councillors in the event of injury 
sustained while discharging their civic duties. 

    

  Council will pay the excess for injury claims made by a Councillor 
resulting from conducting official Council business. 

    

Fuel costs Fuel for a Council owned vehicle used for official Council business 
including the Mayoral use specifically provided for, herein, will be 
provided or paid for by Council. 

Car parking amenities  Council will provide Councillors with: 

 car parking at the local government office premises and/or 

 reimbursement of parking costs paid by Councillors while      
attending to official Council business.  
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Community Services 

Human Resources 
& Risk 

 Cemetery 

 Community Development 

 Community Events 

 Library 

 Parks 

 Property Management 

 Tourism 

 Youth Services 

Corporate Services 

 Administration &      

Customer Service 

 Asset Management 

 Financial Services 

 Information Technology 

 Procurement 

 Rating 

 Records 

Regulatory Services  Engineering Services 

 Fleet Management 

 Road Services 

 Sewerage Services 

 Water Services  

 Airport 

 Animal Management  

 Environmental Services 

 Landfill 

 Legal Matters 

 Local Laws 

 Planning & Development 

 Saleyard Management   

 

Corporate StructureCorporate Structure  

Mayor 

Councillors 

Chief Executive Officer 

(Governance) 

College of Directors 
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Chief Executive Officer’s ReportChief Executive Officer’s Report  

This report recognises the successful completion of each and every legislative and practical 
requirement of the amalgamation of Charters Towers City and Dalrymple Shire Councils. 

Amalgamation transition processes were formally initiated by way of the passing of the Local 
Government Reform Implementation Bill on 10 August 2007, and the final formal requirement 
thereof was satisfied with the adoption by Council of a regional collection of accounting instruments 
as is evidenced in the financial part of this document. 

The collection demonstrates that a fiscally healthy and sustainable single Council has been created 
to replace the two previous local authorities. 

The transition process created the opportunity for the design of a unique organisation which could 
be planned from the bottom up and top down to best resource its primary purpose in serving the 
Charters Towers Regional Community and taking its place within a State and Commonwealth 
reference. 

The fresh design philosophy is evidenced in the Council’s organisational structure, its 
communications and engagement profile, its human resources and industrial relations plans, its 
governance matrix, its financial plan and so on. 

Reference to these various structures and systems demonstrates attention to structural 
homogeneity, change capacity and robust sustainability. 

Council’s governance approach relies upon a regular and planned information sharing and decision 
making cycle.   This cycle is populated by regular formal Council Meetings, College of Directors’ 
Meetings and various regular information sharing forums.     Structures are as flat as possible and 
information is not slowed by reliance on vertically distanced hierarchies. 

This governance approach was implemented immediately after the convening of Council pursuant to 
the 15 March 2008 election, and has continued to achieve its objectives consistent with Corporate 
Governance documents: 

 Corporate Plan; 

 Operational Plan; 

 Annual Budget; 

 Annual Financial Statements; 

 Policies including but not limited to, the Code of Conduct, Equal Employment 
Opportunity and Anti-discrimination Policy; 

 Local Laws; and 

 Pecuniary Interest Registers for Councillors and Senior Staff. 

 

James Gott 

Chief Executive Officer 
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Directors - Charters Towers Regional Council 

Back row (L - R): 

Mrs Tammy Power, Director Corporate Services, Mr James Gott PSM, Chief Executive Officer,   
Mr Wayne Price, Director Community Services. 

 
Front row (L - R): 

Mr Ramon Jayo, Director Regulatory Services, Mr Rohana Samarasekera, Director Engineering 
Services. 

 

DirectorsDirectors  
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This 2008-9 Financial year was a year of many challenges as a consequence of the amalgamation of 
the Charters Towers City Council and Dalrymple Shire Council effective on the 17 March 2008. 
 
The year was principally one of stabilisation and consolidation. As part of the amalgamation there was a 
major organisational and financial restructure and many issues relating to staff and operations including 
new enterprise bargaining agreements, definition of roles and responsibilities, general accommodation 
and working arrangements, and operational policies and procedures had to be reviewed and where 
necessary revised. This process is still ongoing. 
 
However, there were a number of significant ongoing program activities, and initiatives, projects or 
events that were undertaken and worthy of note during the year. 
 
Economic Development 

The Charters Towers Economic Development Plan was prepared and finalised by consultants AEC Group 
in March 2009. The plan was a co-operative effort of the Charters Towers Chamber of Commerce and 
Mines Inc. and Council. 

 
To achieve successful implementation of the plan, perseverance, active management and vigilance are 
required in the ongoing management and adjustment of economic development priorities and 
outcomes. In short, writing the action plan is just the first step on the road to economic development 
success, with the rest being reliant upon the continued work and commitment of the key stakeholders, 
businesses and Council in achieving the economic development vision and goals for the region. 
Successful economic development is rarely about large and dramatic projects but rather many small 
long term initiatives that sow the seeds for ongoing economic growth. 
 
Tourism Services and Visitor Information Centre 
 
Townsville Enterprise - Local Government Engagement Project (LGEP) 
The main aim of the LGEP was to align State, Regional and Local Government Tourism Planning and to 
develop a means of how to deliver outcomes, and monitor performance, against the plans developed. 
Issues addressed were: 

 the proposed Governance & Annual Review Process 

 the proposed Health Checks and Actions Plans 

 the proposed Statement of Roles for the various stakeholders to be included in the plan. 

Townsville Enterprise Limited (TEL) prepared final documentation and proposed templates relating to 
the project and provided a presentation and overview of the project outcomes and objectives to 
Council. 

Tourism Opportunity Plan (formerly The North Queensland Regional Tourism Investment 
and Infrastructure Plan (RTIIP)) 
A key initiative driven by Townsville Enterprise and Tourism Queensland, aimed at the development of 
a ten year plan enabling the North Queensland region to reach its full potential in sustainable tourism 
development. 

The RTIIP supports the Queensland Tourism Strategy (QTS) and builds on the Townsville North 
Queensland Destination Management Plan (DMP) to encourage economic development. The areas are 
North Queensland, Charters Towers, Hinchinbrook, Burdekin, Palm Island and Townsville. 

 

Director Community Services ReportDirector Community Services Report  
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Charters Towers is participating by providing input into the identification of critical tourism 
infrastructure and investment needs for the North Queensland region. 

 A number of proposals in the collective North Queensland section will impact on Charters 
Towers e.g. fishing network; utilisation of heritage buildings for accommodation; indigenous 
art; farm/homestay; road signage. 

 More specifically for Charters Towers there were three options canvassed – Art gallery for the 
Outback North; White Mountains Development (Access, Camping and Trails); Development of 
heritage mining interpretive attractions. 

 The floods in February 2009 impacted severely on visitor numbers.   

 

 

 The upside was the excellent communication with the Main Roads Department who provided 
twice daily updates on road conditions. 

 The Centre was extremely busy with personal and telephone road closure enquiries. 

 The SES also assisted the Centre with information during weekends. 

 The global economic crisis also impacted significantly on the North Queensland Tourism 
industry although there was evidence to suggest that the regional economy was less affected 
than other areas such as Cairns. 

 

Director Community Services Report Director Community Services Report cont’dcont’d  

MONTH 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

January 582 387 1268 1178 1124 1254 1200 1304 

February 403 342 810 725 770 795 813 750 

March 602 405 1252 1155 1211 1105 1471 1206 

April 921 847 2291 1873 2410 1857 1782 2356 

May 1572 1595 2827 2841 3050 3205 3216 3397 

June 2353 3217 4128 4621 4464 4551 4707 3100 

July 2975 6458 5779 6181 5960 5991 7309   

August 2162 5401 4778 5176 5086 4871 6203   

September 1308 3595 3507 3376 3223 2983 4805   

October 879 2340 1836 1821 2338 1651 2755   

November 321 1323 1433 1234 1323 1296 1382   

December 304 1033 1180 915 900 1007 1164   

TOTAL 14382 26943 31089 31096 31859 30566 36807 12113 
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.Annual Audit of Visitor Information Centre 

The onsite audit of the Centre was undertaken on 17 September 2008 by Creative Economy on behalf 
of Tourism Queensland.  The Centre was successful in retaining accreditation whilst receiving high 
praise from the audit team. 

RACQ’s 150 Must Do Experiences for Queensland 

The promotion was launched in November 2008, with the Ghosts of Gold Heritage Trail successful in 
gaining a nomination.  The trail entered at position 119 out of 150.  Voting by locals and visitors 
determined the final position.  The Ghosts of Gold Heritage Trail was ranked number 38, the highest 
ranked attraction in our region. 

Venus Battery and Towers Hill 

Robin Barrie commenced a ‘caretaker’ role, running the attractions until a permanent contractor could 
be secured.  Claude and Maureen Azzopardi commenced the contract for both attractions on 9 March 
2009.  They also took up residence in the caretaker’s cottage at the Battery in April. 

Other Regional Tourism Initiatives 

New signage was funded from the Tourism Qld’s Great Tropical Drive Interpretive Signage.  Four large 
shelter shed and four lectern style interpretive panels erected around the region along with Q150 
Legacy Infrastructure Program funded 5,000 regional maps plus 5 x Explorers Trails interpretive panels 
which are also located along the 5 Great Tropical Drive routes in this region. 
 
To support this initiative Council finalised the production with Pictorial Press of 6,000 copies of our own 
regional magazine called “Around Charters Towers 5 Great Tropical Drives" which takes travellers 
around the region along distinctly signed and educationally rich drives that traverse our region.   
 
Open Day and Gold Rush at the Venus Battery  

Held on Sunday 10 August 2008 the event was a huge success, with visitor numbers  recorded at the 
front gate numbering 1193. The breakdown (number and % of the total visitors recorded) is listed 
below: 

 Locals   830 69% 

 Townsville             95   8% 

 Other   268 23% 
 
Library Services 

Excelsior Library Annual Statistics 

 Visitors to the Library               40,784  

 New Members joined                   463 

 Total Loans to members     44,325 

 Total items reserved for members               5,938 

 Inter-library loan requests sent                         1,762 

 Inter-library loans to other libraries                  590 

 Public access internet hours logged                  1,533 

 

 

Director Community Services Report Director Community Services Report cont’dcont’d  
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State Library Services 

Queensland Public Library Services has been reviewing the Standards for Public Libraries, and during 
the course of the year, Colleen Moss (Library Administrator) was invited to comment on the 
Exchange Model Review and the Local Studies Standards Review. 

To date, the updates to standards most likely to affect Council Library Services are the lowering of 
population limits for eligibility to remain a Country Lending Service Library from 20,000 to 10,000 
(which is why our library service has to plan a transition to become an Independent Library Service), 
and the revised staffing standards. 

State Library staff, Russell Varney and Shelley Webb, visited the library to discuss Council’s eligibility 
to remain with the Country Lending Service. 

The Excelsior Library is gearing up for further changes to come in the next two years, which should 
see the conversion from a Country Lending Service to an Independent Library Service completed. 

Changes to date have meant that services such as inter-library loans have become a full-time 
commitment. Staff can no longer simply place a request with Public Library Services, but have to 
check the Aurora Union catalogue plus the catalogues of other participating libraries.  There are now 
outgoing Inter-library loans to process as well. The positive in this is that the library members are 
receiving a much faster and more efficient inter-library loan service. 

The Excelsior Library currently has the equivalent of 2.88 staff and requires 1 full-time equivalent 
staff person per 3,000 population, with one of those to be a qualified librarian, to meet the Standard. 

Other Services and Events 

During the year Colleen Moss (Library Administrator) attended the “YourTutor” information session 
held at Thuringowa Library. This was a refresher to reacquaint everyone with the online tutor 
sessions provided free to students through the State Library of Qld.  In May, Peter Nicholson from 
“YourTutor” presented a workshop for Library Staff and representatives from Charters Towers 
Schools, to promote a better understanding of the service with those best able to pass the 
information on to students. 

The John Oxley Library ‘White Gloves’ Tour visited Charters Towers 
in April and set up a display of Local and Queensland historical 
items for anyone interested to view and handle. This was held in 
the Florence Fitzgerald Room and was a huge hit with our local 
historians.  

In June, as part of the Q150 celebrations, the Library hosted a visit 
from Australian authors and illustrators. Author and illustrator 
Gregory Rogers held afternoon sessions for young people.  Greg 
fascinated his audience by demonstrating his ability to tell a story 
with pictures.  Matt Condon and Belinda Jeffries joined Greg at a 
Wine and Cheese Evening, where they enjoyed some lively 
interaction with our local aspiring writers. 

 

 

Director Community Services Report Director Community Services Report cont’dcont’d  

 

White Gloves Tour 
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Director Community Services Report cont’d 

Scary entry to the Junior Library 
for Halloween 2008 

Gregory Rogers with his               
enthusiastic audience 

Country Music 2009 

Book Week 2009 Christmas 2008 
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Arts and Cultural Services 

Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF) 

The RADF committees of the former Charters Towers City Council and the Dalrymple Shire Council 
joined forces as an interim committee to guide the allocation and creativity of arts funds in the 
regional area in accordance with new Council amalgamation. 

Council made a successful application to Arts Queensland for funds to support the local RADF 
program.  Funding was secured in the sum of $70,000 being made available for community arts 
projects and cultural development.  

The RADF committee approached Melissa Driscoll to create a Cultural Profile of the new Council 
regional area, her report was presented to the community via a forum at the Arthur Titley Centre 
and was successful in engaging arts groups in the community. The profile promoted the formation of 
a cultural alliance and recommended funding of local and regional professional artists to assist with 
implementing cultural policy and projects to further engage the community in the arts.   

Generations Project 

Between 2007 – 2009 the Australia Council and Queensland Arts Council, in partnership with The 
Charters Towers Regional Council, funded a national three year collaborative research venture that 
fostered community engagement through the arts by building effective partnerships with the 
community sector and other spheres of Government. This unique and important investment in 
community building has aspired to help shape the future for our local Government and its 
community engagement understandings. 
 
The diversity and involvement of hundreds of people has seen the community engaged in some way 
through: 
 small rural community cultural camps; 

 digital story telling utilising innovative software programs; 

 partnerships developed with TAFE delivering accredited visual arts and film making 
workshops; and 

 the development and touring of the region of historic photographs, and a community visual 
art exhibition at a number of gallery locations within the city. 

 
The building of the new performance and yarning circle stages in Lissner Park, complete with 
international artist Dom John’s mosaic depiction of the Traditional Owners Dreamtime Story, along 
with accredited cross cultural tourism training courses, are setting the foundations for a positive and 
creative future for this region. 
 
World Theatre Gallery 
 
Throughout the year Council funded and hosted four new exhibitions from Qld Galleries and 
Museums’ Touring program: 

 ‘Historic Station Life’, ‘A Photographic Record’, ‘A Child’s Life on the Station’ and the 
‘Education Ministers Awards’, as well as facilitating a number of local artists’ exhibitions. 

Council developed a new exhibition to add to its own collection called ‘Generations, Fading 
Memories’, which toured in 2009 and which will hang at the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology 
(RMIT) later in the year as part of the Generation Project. 

The Council also contributed to a new initiative - The Queensland Arts Council Education Touring 
program for performances in the region’s small schools to the value of $6,000 over three years.  
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Community Development 

Small Communities 

A number of groups remain active within each of the small towns in the region, contributing 
enormous voluntary hours of support and continuing to be Council’s eyes and ears on many matters. 

Council funds five small community progress groups and three small community swimming pool 
groups who contribute to the development of swimming education and recreational pursuits. 

Balfles Creek community have been busy working on improvements to their community hall. 

Pentland Arts and Crafts Club have relocated their base of operations and the historic Norwood 
Police cells have been relocated to the grounds of the Pentland Memorial Hall. 

Greenvale and Ravenswood communities were involved in Tidy Towns, with the Greenvale 
community taking out the region’s Bush Spirit Award, and Ravenswood taking out regional awards in 
Individual Outstanding Accomplishment and a Water Conservation Award. 

Hervey Range Community Association completed their tennis court. 

Homestead Parents & Citizens Association hosted a Community Sports Day and the Rural Fire and 
SES are all actively engaged and involved in numerous ways with Council.  

Community Events 

Australia Day 2009 

Wet weather didn’t dampen the Australia Day spirit, 
with 250 people taking part in celebrations at the 
Arthur Titley Centre. This was the first amalgamated 
Charters Towers Regional Council Australia Day and 
included a barbeque breakfast, entertainment by Owen 
Smith, the Excelsior Band and Charters Towers 
Choristers. A damper competition was hotly contested 
and the children joined in the fun of a Thong Throwing 
and Cooee competition. 

ANZAC Day 2009 

An excellent turnout for this event, with Squadron Leader 
Trevor Beams RAAF in attendance as the reviewing officer 
and the 10 Force Support Battalion 2 Force Supply 
Company providing the Quarter Guard and Catafalque 
Party. A total of 943 people took part in the Anzac Day 
march with great support from the public, local schools 
and community groups. 

Q150 Celebrations 

The official opening of Q150 Infrastructure Legacy Panels 
took place at Fletcher Creek on 3 May 2009, with the 
unveiling of one of five interpretive panels.  The panels 
depict maps, illustrations and specific information 
(geological, indigenous, botanical) to assist in informing and 
educating as well as recording factual accounts of each of 
the historical explorers’ expeditions within this region.  The 
project also includes a self-drive map highlighting the 
location of each panel.  A morning tea took place after the 
unveiling.   
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Q150 Steam Train Visit and Local Train ride 

On 02 June 2009 the local community gave the Q150 Steam Train 
a rousing welcome, with a combined school band entertaining, the 
Host Lions Club provided a free afternoon tea for the visitors 
staying overnight.  

The Local Q150 Steam Train ride on 11 June 2009 was fully 
booked within three days of tickets going on sale.  150 residents 
took advantage of experiencing this unique steam train journey 
from Charters Towers to Southern Cross and return. 

Youth Services 

Youth Scoping Report Project 

A funding submission to Blueprint for the Bush was successful and $20,000 was secured to employ a 
consultant to develop and conduct a Youth Scoping Report.  In consultation with the Charters 
Towers Youth Network, Urbis Pty Ltd were selected to complete the project. 

The project was completed in May 2009 and Council is now looking to use the report as a basis for 
future youth initiatives and programs, this will involve ongoing engagement with young people and 
other stakeholders in our communities. 

Young Endeavour Program 2009 

This program continued to be supported by Council through the sponsorship of one (1) berth on the 
Young Endeavour. Expressions of interest were called from regional youth interested in participating 
in this exciting and challenging program of personal development. Ewen McLennan was selected to 
participate in this program for the 2009 voyage. Ewen sailed the Townsville to Cairns leg of the 
Young Endeavour’s Around Australia Voyage.  Council will continue to sponsor a berth on this 
program in 2010.  

Battle of the Bands – National Youth Week 

As part of National Youth Week 2009 Charters Towers held a regional heat for the Youth Network 
Battle of The Bands.  The event was held at the Police Citizens Youth Club (PCYC) with seven local 
acts competing. The best two acts were selected to participate in the regional finals held in 
Townsville.  At this event Jarrah Aitchison won the prize for best original composition and was given 
the opportunity to record her song in a professional recording studio. 

Skate Park School Holiday Activities  

School holiday activities at the Skate Park are extremely popular with over 600 visitations occurring 
during the Christmas holiday period. Young people enjoyed activities such as basketball 
competitions, Xbox games, art activities and socialising with friends. 

Children’s Participatory Touring Arts Workshops were provided by the Qld Art Gallery & Gallery of 
Modern Arts (GoMA) titled “Kids Contemporary Australia On Tour”. 

Home and Community Care Services  (HACC) 

During the 2008/09 financial year the lawn mowing service catered for 137 eligible HACC clients, 
delivering 13 services to each recipient, with a total budget of $110,227.  With additional 
supplementary services included, the number of services delivered for the year totalled 1828. 

The 2007/08 waiting list of eligible HACC clients was 32. The provision of additional services in the 
2008/09 year allowed for 8 new clients to commence receiving a regular lawn mowing service. This 
was achieved by dropping the scheduled service delivery from 14 back to 13 services per year for 
each client. At 30 June 2009, 22 clients remain on the waiting list. 
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In September 2008, The Institute of Healthy Communities Australia was appointed to complete a 
service assessment of Council services over the past three (3) years against the required HACC 
standards.  Charters Towers Handyman Service scored a rating of Basic Standard.  A Quality Action 
Plan was developed to improve the Overall Performance Standard with planned quality improvement 
activities to be undertaken. 

Council’s HACC Funding Agreement with the Department of Communities allowed for minimal level of 
home maintenance services. Council’s Building Services and Maintenance Section initially undertook 
some minor maintenance work, but all home maintenance delivery services are now contracted out 
to local businesses. This will continue for the 2009/10 year. 

The Service Contract will continue in 2009/10 with a funding budget of $112,652, after Council 
received a 12 month extension to the previous three (3) year Department of Communities Home and 
Community Care Service Contract. 

The HACC services offered are invaluable to eligible community members where assistance is 
required to allow them to maintain their independence and to stay in their homes, without placing 
increased pressure on local nursing homes and respite centres. 

Community Projects and Funding Initiatives 

The Department of Communities, Sport and Recreation (Major Facilities Funding Program 2009) was 
announced in late 2008.  Council made an application to construct a heated pool facility to 
complement existing amenities at the Kennedy Memorial Pool in Charters Towers.  

The application was successful and Council secured a grant of $737,500 ex GST, towards the 
project. The project is estimated to cost approximately $1.5m and is to be completed by 31 
December 2010. 

The Department of Infrastructure and Planning (Local Government Sport and Recreation) announced 
the opening of applications of the Rural Living Infrastructure Program 2008/09 in October 2008, 
closing January 2009.  Council made two applications under this program to construct public toilet 
amenities at Brownson Park and to upgrade the air-conditioning systems and associated electrical 
switchboards in the Arthur Titley Centre.  Council was successful in both applications securing a total 
of $78,000 (60% of estimated cost of $130,000) for Brownson Park and $119,700 (60% of the 
estimated cost of $199,500) for the Arthur Titley Centre. Council will contribute the 40% balance of 
funds for each project. 

Commonwealth Jobs Fund – The Federal Government announced a roll out of stimulus funding to 
create jobs within local communities.  Council made an application under this package for works 
associated with the upgrade of the Charters Towers Showgrounds.  Council was unsuccessful in its 
application. 

The Commonwealth Government’s Regional and Local Community Infrastructure Program (RLCIP) 
stimulus package approved funding of $776,000 to Council. Council allocated the funds to three 
projects: 

 the provision and upgrade of playground equipment in regional community reserves and 
parks; 

 a performance stage, shade shelter  and “Yarning Circle” in Lissner Park; and 

 the upgrade of water treatment and delivery facilities in the township of Greenvale. 

All works are programmed to be completed by 31 December 2009. 

The Towers Hill Toilet Block was opened in April 2009 with funding from the Sport and Recreation – 
Rural Living Infrastructure Program (RLIP) 2007/08.  The construction was completed by Council 
work crews. 

 

Director Community Services Report cont’d 



 

 

Page 22 

The Towers Hill Walking Track was officially opened in August 2009 with funding from the Department 
of Communities - Sport and Recreation 2006/2007 program.  This was Stage Two (2) of the walking 
track proposal for Towers Hill.  The resulting walking circuit provides both physically challenging and 
rewarding walks, with spectacular views of the town and surrounding areas. 

The former Dalrymple Shire Council was successful in obtaining funding under the Queensland 
Governments Security Improvement Program (SIP) and security upgrades will be implemented at the 
rear of the World Theatre and at the The Dalrymple Saleyards Complex.  These projects will be 
completed by 15 March 2010.  

Council undertook a review of Council facilities and Public areas for consideration in a 2009/10 
Security Improvement Program. Initiatives such as improved lighting, security cameras and passive 
surveillance initiatives were identified. A number of identified priorities will be considered for ongoing 
funding in 2009/10.  

Community Property Services 

Administration Building 

Finalisation of interior refurbishment to meet the office 
accommodation needs of the new Regional Council, 
including modifications and lighting improvements in the 
reception area, additional office partitions and expanded 
facilities, new carpet throughout the building, and 
various minor tasks were required. The external 
landscaping was upgraded with the installation of a new 
irrigation system and several gardens rejuvenated. New 
corporate signage was installed to the main building. 

World Theatre Complex 

New exhibition lighting was installed in the Theatre 
foyer. 

External lighting to the entire complex was repaired or replaced to re-establish the ambience and 
security of this heritage local facility. 

The stage floor was repaired to maintain this feature to performance standard. 

Security gates were installed to the front doors of Henry’s Restaurant and the heritage doors restored 
following previous intrusion damage. 

The ceiling in Henry’s Restaurant was repaired following collapse resulting from heavy rain inundation 
in early 2009. The original box gutter system over Henry’s Restaurant roof was replaced, with 
additional overflow points installed to avoid further storm related damage. 

Highway Depot 

Staff room facilities were upgraded. 

Additional office accommodation was installed in the main workshop building, and improvements 
carried out to the demountable offices. 

Airport Depot 

Extensions to the existing dog pound enclosure were completed. 

The footpath and vehicle entry were concreted to improve visitor access to the parking and ramp 
entry areas. 
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Wheelers House 

The original access ramp to the front of the building 
was removed and steps reinstated to reflect the 
original design of the building. A new access ramp was 
installed to assist persons with disabilities to access 
this community services building. 

Wherry House 

Security gates were installed to the side entrance of 
the building following damage resulting from a forced 
entry through the original heritage doors. The doors 
were restored by Council’s Building Services Staff. 

The timber floor in the rear section (ex kitchen/Day Care Centre) was replaced, and the cracking from 
wall subsidence repaired.  The walls were primed ready for final painting after the short term tenancy 
arrangements for a work/display area for the Generations Project ended. 

Kennedy Regiment Pool 

The shade cover over the main pool was repaired and reinstalled with enhanced safety fastening 
systems and fittings to reduce potential for breakage and possible dislodgement during high winds. 

The upgrade to the change rooms was completed prior to the opening of the pool in September. 

The fencing surrounding the pool concourse was reinforced to re-establish the strength and integrity 
of this structure, which is tested during the various school carnivals each year. 

Staff Housing 

All staff houses were subject to significant maintenance efforts, through internal painting, kitchen 
upgrades, retiling, air conditioning upgrade/installations etc., with minor extensions installed at the 
Weir Residence. 

Pentland 

The front and side wall of the Soldiers Memorial Hall was painted and electrical improvements made 
to the kitchen.  The balance of the building is to be painted by the local community with materials 
provided by Council. 

The Norwood Police Cell building and display items were relocated to the Soldiers Memorial Hall site 
in consultation with the Pentland Arts Group and local community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                           

 

Pentland Soldiers Memorial Norwood Police Cell   
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Community Parks and Facilities 

Lissner Park 

 Vehicle pathways were re-concreted at the Northern End 
of the park. 

 The Shade House shade cover was replaced. 

 New vehicle barriers were installed at Church Street 
(drain end). 

 The foundations of the Band Rotunda were repaired due 
to deterioration of the original stumps and the steel framework below the floor which had been 
undertaken many years ago. 

 The Boer War Memorial Kiosk was repainted and roof features repaired or reinstated. 

Equestrian Centre 

 A small play area was installed, with equipment supplied by the Charters Towers Campdraft 
Committee. 

Clyde Berryman Park 

 The area was further developed and irrigation systems installed, as a tribute to the former long 
serving City Parks Curator, Clyde Berryman. 

Hidden Valley 

 A new water tower was installed at this facility. 

Venus Battery 

 The sealing of interpretive equipment control room was undertaken to reduce impact of dust and 
rain on the electrical components in this area. 

 The Spectravision cabinet was upgraded with sliding tracks/rails and electrical tidy up to allow for 
easier access for maintenance and replacement of the projection equipment. 

 Permanent barricades were installed in the Battery and around the outside vat areas in accordance 
Workplace Health and Safety recommendations. 

 The banks of the adjoining Gladstone Creek were cleared of debris and overburden from the creek, 
irrigation systems installed, and a number of outdoor settings installed. 

 

 

 

 

Outdoor settings near Gladstone Creek  
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Tennis Courts, Charters Towers 

 Fascias and guttering were replaced and electrical connection upgraded. 

General Parks and Gardens 

 Realignment and turf laid in diversion drain at Rotary Lookout to eliminate hazards associated 
with original deep drain. 

 Large planter pots removed from around Laneyrie Park toilet, eliminating access points to the 
roof for youths that frequent the area. 

 Playground installed into Centenary Park. 

 Realignment of lilies in garden beds on Rainbow Road, due to multiple complaints about poor 
visibility at intersection. 

 Power supply installed to duck pond for aerators to improve water quality. 

 Replaced faulty irrigation controller and cabling in Defiance Mill Park. 

 The front garden of Wheelers House extensively landscaped and irrigation system installed. 

 Post-flood clean up of Weir Park. 

 Picnic tables installed at Rotary Lookout. 

 Major clean up of Gill Street post-Christmas Fair. 

 Collection and disposal of saplings post-Country Music Festival. 

 Major clean up of creek banks at Gladstone creek behind Venus Battery, installation of irrigation 
system and picnic tables. 

 Remodelling of garden beds along Ryan Street behind Woolworths car park. 

 Remodelling of garden bed on Rainbow Road to stop water damaging road surface of 
intersection. 

 Resources moved across to the Parks Section and the Highway Depot.  Equestrian Centre and 
Water Treatment Plant ground maintenance are now part of Parks’ area of responsibility. 

 Removal of a number of street trees on Council footpaths, road reserves and USL where 
necessary, based upon risk assessments and assessed priority. 

Cemetery Services 

 A total of 96 funeral services occurred in Charters Towers.  Of this total, 18 services were 
second interments, and 15 cremains were allocated to either the Rose Garden, Columbarium or 
existing graves.   

 The Columbarium wall statistics at EOFY were: 

 

 

 

 

 

 The construction of a second Columbarium Wall will be undertaken in 2009/10. 

Used single niches 108 
Reserved single niches 17 
Empty single niches 5 
Used double niches 24 
Reserved double niches 4 
Empty double niches 9 
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Community Development Funding/Community Development/Projects 

 HACC – 2008 Non-Operating Capital Funding was announced. Application was made under this 
funding package for a new IT consumable for the HACC program. Awaiting Outcome of this 
application. 

 The Department of Communities, Sport and Recreation (Major Facilities Funding Program 2009) was 
announced in late 2008.  Council resolved to make an application to construct a heated pool facility 
to use in the winter months of April to August.  The EOI Application was successful, and Council was 
invited to respond with an official application. This was announced as successful at 12 May 2009 for 
a grant of $737,500 ex GST, to be completed by 31 Dec 2010. 

 The Department of Infrastructure and Planning (Local Government Sport and Recreation) 
announced the opening of applications of the Rural Living Infrastructure Program 08/09 in October 
2008, closing January 2009.  Council resolved to make two (2) applications under this program to 
construct a public toilet amenity at Brownson Park and upgrade cooling to the Arthur Titley Centre.  
The announcement of successful grants was made on 8 May 2009, with 60% of funding from 
Department of Local Government, Sport & Recreation and Council to contribute 40% for $119,700 
to be spent on the ATC airconditioning and $78,000 on the Brownson Park amenity. 

 Jobs Fund – The Federal Government announced a role-out of stimulus funding to create jobs within 
local communities.  Council resolved to make application under this package for upgrade works 
required at the Charters Towers Showground Facility.  Council was unsuccessful in its application. 

 RLCIP stimulus package $776,000 was announced as allocated to Charters Towers Regional Council 
under this Program.  Council resolved to allocate these funds to three projects – playground 
equipment in Council area community reserves and parks, a performance stage and shade shelter in 
Lissner Park, and upgrade water treatment and delivery facilities in the township of Greenvale. 
Works to be completed by 31 December 2009. 

 The Towers Hill Toilet Block Facility was opened in April 2009 with funding from the Sport and 
Recreation – Rural Living Infrastructure Program 07/08.  The construction was completed by Council 
work crews.  

 The Towers Hill Walking Track was officially opened in August 2009 with funding from the 
Department of Communities - Sport and Recreation 2006/2007 program.  This was stage two of the 
walking track proposal for Towers Hill.    The resulting walking circuit provides both physically 
challenging and rewarding walks, with spectacular views of the town and surrounding areas. 

 Recommendations contained in the 2006 Security Improvements Study, prepared by a registered 
organisation have continued to be reviewed, with the inspection of hot spots to arrange the 
installation of security cameras within the Charters Towers City area in 2010.  The former Dalrymple 
Shire Council was successful in obtaining funding under this program to install security cameras to 
the World Theatre rear carpark and the Saleyards Truckwash and livestock holding facility.  This 
project is scheduled for completion by 15 March 2010.  

 

Wayne Price 

Director Community Services 
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This is the first Annual Report of the Charters Towers Regional Council, covering from its formation on 
15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009. 

As I am sure all Corporate Reports covering amalgamated Councils have identified, this reporting 
period has been one of many ‘firsts’ and seen challenges which are not part of a normal Council year. 

On the evening of the elections on Saturday 14 March 2008, both former Councils closed their doors, 
and reopened two days later with a new identity and a new motto. 

The first two (2) days were primarily closed to the public, as a mass reorganisation took place with 
both buildings basically emptied and the new desk layouts put in place, allowing a complete relocation, 
to enable the combined sections to be located within the same building.  The reorganisation also 
included internal construction work followed by significant renovations to the Administration Centre 
and the building linked to the Administration Centre, which now houses the Human Resources and 
Risk section. 

Governance, Corporate Services and Engineering Management are located at the former Dalrymple 
Shire Office, while Community and Regulatory operate from the former City Council Offices. The 
former Shire Depot combined the Road Crews, Procurement and Stores, Fleet Management and the 
Plant Workshop, while the former City depot combined the Water, Sewerage and Park Personnel. 

Another large change was the immediate introduction of the newly approved Regional Organisation 
Structure which consisted of the appointed four (4) Directors, who had already developed their 
structures and appointed their new team to each position. 

New bank account, new ABN, new stationery, new telephone greeting, new after-hours recordings, 
etc. etc. were all ready to go at the opening on Monday 17 March 2008, as well as the regional 
identifications within the dual database systems such as the financial systems and the records systems 
which needed to be managed in parallel.  Additional dual platforms were the two separate telephone 
networks and the separate email networks.  One major achievement, enabling these parallel systems 
to work from day one (1) was the fibre connection between both Administration Offices which also 
enabled the remaining Regional Depots, Library, and Visitor Information Centre to be linked by radio 
transmission, although the radio links were very basic.  Since that time, the radio network has been 
upgraded by the building of a large communication tower on Towers Hill.  Towers Hill has an excellent 
‘line of view’ to City Hall, which as mentioned earlier, carries the regional data by fibre to the main 
Administration Centre.  Latest technology radios have been installed on the tower and at each facility, 
allowing a fast and secure regional network. 

Within the first eight (8) months of regionalisation, further milestones were achieved.  Some are listed 
below: 

1. The first regional budget was handed down in June 2008 – developed on the two separate 
financial platforms, and amalgamated together to form one (1) budget. 

2. The first regional rate levies were issued in July 2008.  Again, these were run on the two 
separate rating systems, under two (2) separate rating methodologies, however all rate notices 
were printed on the same regional stationery, giving a uniform appearance to the Community. 

3. A regional telephone system was implemented enabling full inter-extension connection between 
all facilities as listed above together with a regional email platform. 

4. A regional financial chart of accounts was designed and built, allowing both former systems to 
be amalgamated into one regional platform in November 2008.  This was in addition to the 
merging of all other feeders systems such as rates, creditors, debtors, animal management, 
plant, assets, payroll, orders, stores and job cost. 

5. Another large project was the merging of both former record systems into a regional platform, 
fed by regional process, workflows and security classifications. 
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While many steps have been achieved, there is still much progress to be made before the organisation is 
fully united under one set of policies and procedures. Primarily due to the significant reallocation of staff 
between positions, and added ‘new’ considerations which each staff member is facing, I personally 
believe that a full term of Council will be required before Council sees the same continuity and service 
delivery that the two former Councils enjoyed under their former teams.  However, it must also be 
noted, that while Council is streamlining the amalgamation of all former services, the depth of structure 
in each area is enabling services to broaden and be extended. 

While I can’t say that I would like to repeat the past fifteen months, I can say that the achievements to- 
date have been rewarding. 

I am personally committed to doing everything in my power to see the combined Regional Community 
benefit from this amalgamation, and I know that the elected Councillors and many other colleagues are 
also committed to this same outcome. 

Accordingly I look forward to be able to report the further gains when developing next year’s Annual 
Report. 

 

Tammy Power 

Director Corporate Services 
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REVENUE POLICY  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE STANDARD 2005 

PART 2 – POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES FOR FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

Division 2 – Requirements for Revenue Policy – Act, s 513B(1) 

Section 12 A local government’s revenue policy for a financial year must include details of the 
principles applied by it for the year for each of the following- 

 making and levying rates and charges; 

 exercising its powers to grant rebates and concessions; 

 recovery of unpaid amounts of rates and charges. 

The purpose of this Revenue Policy is to set out the principles used by Council in 2009/2010 for: 

A. The making of rates and charges 

In general Council will be guided by the principle of user pays in the making of rates and 
charges so as to minimise the impact of rating on the efficiency of the local economy. 

Council will also have regard to the principles of: 

 transparency in the making of rates and charges; 

 having in place a rating regime that is simple and inexpensive to administer; 

 equity by taking account of the different levels of capacity to pay within the local 
community; and 

 flexibility to take account of changes in the local economy. 

 
 The levying of rates 

 In levying rates Council will apply the principles of: 

 making clear what is the Council’s and each ratepayer’s responsibility to the rating 
system; 

 making the levying system simple and inexpensive to administer; 

 timing the levy of rates to take into account the financial cycle of local economic activity, 
in order to assist smooth running of the local economy; and 

 equity through flexible payment arrangements for ratepayers with a lower capacity to 
pay. 

 
B. Concessions for rates and charges 

In accordance with Section 1035A of the Local Government Act 1993 Council remits rates for 
Pensioner Concession Card Holders on the same basis as permitted by the State Government 
Pensioner Rate Subsidy Scheme as administered by the Concessions Unit, Planning & Policy Co-
ordination Branch, Department of Communities. 

In considering the application of concessions, Council will be guided by the principles of: 
 equity by having regard to the different levels of capacity to pay within the local 

community; 
 the same treatment for ratepayers with similar circumstances; 

 transparency by making clear the requirements necessary to receive concessions, and 

 flexibility to allow Council to respond to local economic issues.  
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         Consideration may be given by Council to granting a class concession in the event all or part 
of the local government area is declared a natural disaster area by the State Government. 

 
C. The recovery of rates and charges 
 

In accordance with Chapter 14, Part 7 of the Local Government Act 1993, Council has 
processes in place for the recovery of unpaid amounts of rates and charges. 

Council will exercise its rate recovery powers in order to reduce the overall rate burden on 
ratepayers.  It will be guided by the principles of: 
 

 transparency by making clear the obligations of ratepayers and the processes used by 
Council in assisting them to meet their financial obligations; 

 making the processes used to recover outstanding rates and charges clear, simple to 
administer and cost effective; 

 capacity to pay in determining appropriate arrangements for different sectors of the 
community; 

 equity by having regard to providing the same treatment for ratepayers with similar 
circumstances; and 

 flexibility by responding where necessary to changes in the local economy. 
 
BORROWING POLICY  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE STANDARD 2005 

PART 2 – POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES FOR FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

Division 1 - Policies and Principles for Financial Management 

Section 4 - A local government must develop the following policies for financial management in a 
way complying with the requirements in this division: 

(a) a policy about borrowings. 

Section 8 - Requirements for policy about borrowings 

A policy about borrowing must be prepared for a financial year and must state the following - 

(a) The new borrowings planned for the financial year and the next 4 financial years; 

(b) The purpose of the new borrowings; 

(c) The time over which it is planned to repay existing and proposed borrowings. 

BORROWINGS PLANNED FOR 2009-2010 

Council may need to borrow to cover costs associated with the upgrade of the Charters Towers 
Environs Water supply and the Upgrade of the Towers Hill Reservoir.  The amount required to be 
borrowed and the repayment schedule will depend on the scope of work required and the cost to 
complete the required work.  Council will make decisions relative to these borrowings at an Amended 
Budget meeting, while this policy will be revised to reflect any future planning and decisions as 
completed. 

 
BORROWINGS PLANNED FOR 2010-2011 

As determined and approved by Council. 
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BORROWINGS PLANNED FOR 2011-2012  

As determined and approved by Council. 

BORROWINGS PLANNED FOR 2012-2013  

As determined and approved by Council. 

LOAN REPAYMENTS TIMEFRAMES 

Attached is a schedule of loan repayments for all existing and proposed loans. 

 Purpose   Annual Repayment  Proposed Maturity 

 Saleyards    $36,000   September 2009 

 Roadworks    $59,000   September 2010 

 Plant Fleet Loan   $91,000   June 2015 

SHORT TERM FINANCE 

The Council may, from time to time, seek Treasury approval for short-term finance for operational cash-
flow purposes. Borrowings of this type are only contemplated in cases of an emergent nature and would 
be raised through Queensland Treasury Corporation by way of an overdraft facility. 
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Amalgamation of the previous Charters Towers City Council and Dalrymple Shire Council brought 
with it many challenges, which over the past months were addressed with tenacity, resulting in 
promoting a successful and relatively smooth transition. Presently, close to 200 personnel are 
attached to Engineering Services, made up of a healthy mixture of employees from the two previous 
Councils. The Engineering Services Structure of the Charters Towers Regional Council continues to 
evolve, intentionally driven to achieve a robust and adept workforce, capable of a sustained and 
above average service delivery to ensure a social, physical and economic well-being for its 
Community as well as providing constructive support to its Stake Holders by promoting a positive 
and enriching outcome for the Region. 

Senior Management Structure  

Engineering Services 

 
 

 
 

    
  

 

 
 
 
 

 

Road Maintenance and Construction – Director Engineering Services  - Rohana Samarasekera 

Maintenance and Construction in relation to the vast network of roads both sealed and unsealed 
controlled by Council is divided into distinctive areas and relates to and includes the following assets: 
roads, roadside furniture, bridges, footpaths, kerb and channel, storm water drainage, plant and 
equipment. 

A brief overview is as detailed below. 

Road Maintenance and Performance Contracts (RMPC) accepted by Council relates to State 
controlled Roads under Department of Transport and Main Roads (DTMR) maintained by Council and 
entails all aspects of maintenance of the subject roads, by Council. 

Road Performance Contracts (RPC) accepted by Council are a sole/preferred provider work on State 
Controlled Roads carried out under contract to DTMR and entails the construction of selected 
sections of State Roads. 

Restoration of roads damaged by declared major flood events with funds received from the 
Department of Infrastructure and Planning under the National Disaster Relief and Recovery 
Arrangements (NDRRA). 

Council undertakes a number of structural design and construction projects associated with the 
Council controlled road network such as Reinforced Concrete Bridges, Grid Bridges, Flood Ways, 
Causeways, Drainage and Bus Set Down Areas. 
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Executive Administration 
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WATER SEWERAGE AND DRAINAGE – Manager - Cameron Scott 

Council amalgamation saw the combining of the two previous water service providers under the banner 
of the new Charters Towers Regional Council. The amalgamated entity now encompasses the water and 
sewerage assets and operations of the former City of Charters Towers and the outlying townships of 
Greenvale, Ravenswood and Pentland. 

Council’s focus for the initial year has been on the maintenance of former levels of service and 
assessment of resources to best meet these levels. 

Council encountered serious threats to water supply in the both Charters Towers and Greenvale during 
higher than usual wet season early in 2009, however contingencies and procedures where enacted that 
ensured essential water supply was maintained. 

The new Council has strived to ensure conformance with the two previous Council’s Customer Service 
Standards whilst developing an updated Service Charter that will be adopted in the 2009/2010 year. 

FLEET MANAGEMENT SERVICES – Manager - Ajith Samarasekera 

The amalgamation resulted in a combined fleet and equipment asset of a magnitude significantly greater 
than either previous Council had experienced. The management of this fleet was centralised to a single 
fleet management organisation and supported by a newly introduced fleet management software 
program. Concurrently, the workshop structure was revised and increased to enable it to cope with the 
increased liability. 

 
Rohana Samarasekera 

Director Engineering Services 
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Planning 

Staff are presently undertaking a review of the existing Planning Schemes as a preliminary step 
towards the preparation of a new Planning Scheme encompassing the amalgamated needs of both the 
former City and Shire areas. 

A Planning Scheme dictates the use to which any particular land parcel may be put so as to ensure 
orderly, sequential and compatible development. 

The new Planning Scheme, anticipated to be ready for adoption late 2010, will be based on the 
Queensland Planning provisions in accordance with new legislation introduced by the State 
Government which repealed the previous Integrated Planning Act. 

The Queensland Planning Provisions, adopted by virtue of the Sustainable Planning Act 2009, are new 
planning tools designed to make preparation and management of land use Planning Schemes much 
simpler for local governments and their communities. 

Saleyards 

Saleyard records were continuously made and broken throughout 
the year of review as the demand for live export services pushed 
cattle numbers to the limit. 

A total of 205,000 head were processed through the yard, 95,000 
head directly accountable to live export. 

Commercial cattle movement 
through the yards continues, albeit at a slightly reduced volume 
having regard to seasonal factors.  Export cattle yardings of 6,000-
7,000 head per month continue 
and are expected to continue 
well into the new year having 
regard to yard bookings to 
hand. 

Council is pleased to be associated with the live export trade given 
the additional market it affords its grazing constituents for their 
product. 

Animal & Pest Management 

Generational changes to the manner in which cats and dogs must now be kept by force of law has 
kept Council staff extremely busy since State Government adoption of the Animal Management (Cats 
& Dogs) Act 2008. 

Council has been required to implement new regulated dog 
provisions regulating the keeping and tracking of dangerous dogs 
and has been working on the detail towards implementation of the 
additional components of the legislation including: 
 compulsory registration of all cats and dogs and the 

implementation of microchips for new cats and dogs; and 
 statewide compulsory tattooing for desexed cats and dogs. 
 
The new laws come into effect 1 July 2010. 
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Health and Environment Management 

Education and Promotion 

Council continues to be proactive in all areas of Health and Environmental Management.  During the last 
12 months six (6) ‘Food for Thought’ newsletters were issued to 87 Food Businesses with each issue 
covering the most up to date information relative to the food industry. 

Council instigated a series of Food Handling and Food Safety Supervisor training for interested parties and 
local business operators to help meet their legal obligations. In all, four (4) courses were conducted during 
the year resulting in 42 people successfully completing their training modules. 

Other licensing/permit activities  

Council issued the following licences/permits as per requirements: 
 81 x Food licences. 

 20 x Flammable & Combustible Liquid licences with conditions. 

 8 x Stable permits with conditions. 

 2 x Itinerant Vendor Permits with conditions. 

 3 x Caravan Park Permits with conditions. 

 26 x ERA “ Registration Certificates” 
 
DrumMUSTER & Chem Clear 

Council established a DrumMUSTER compound with the aid of federal funding and now offers a free used 
chemical container collection service 12 months a year.  Council also participated in DrumMUSTER’s parent 
service ‘Chem Clear’. 

Refuse Collection 

During 2008-09, Council’s refuse collection service was centralised to Charters Towers.  Waste / refuse that 
was previously collected from Balfes Creek, Homestead, Pentland, Sellheim, Mingela, Ravenswood and 
Greenvale, and deposited at the Pentland, Ravenswood and Greenvale landfills respectively, was re-
diverted to the Charters Towers – Stubley Street landfill.   
The end result was better control of Council waste streams, a benefit to the environment and reduced 
environmental licensing requirements in regards to the volume being deposited to the township landfills. 

Flying Fox Sanctuary 

Queensland Parks and Wildlife funded the planting of 16 fig trees adjacent to the Sewerage Treatment 
Plant to assist in the establishment and promotion of a flying fox sanctuary on the outskirts of town.  
Unfortunately, record rainfall in February, the stress associated with the transporting and transplanting of 
large trees, and possibly brackish water, resulted in a number of the trees dying. 

On a more positive note, the flying fox sanctuary is progressing well with large portions of land adjacent to 
the project being cleared of noxious weeds. 

Christmas Decorations 

Council continued the tradition of decorating the City with Christmas decorations erected at key locations 
throughout the main CBD.  The coverage of decorations was extended in 2008 to include Council’s 
Administration Building. The old Christmas Tree historically located outside the Visitor Information Centre 
was refurbished by Council’s Engineering Services and erected at the Police Station to help promote that 
Christmas feeling. 

 

Ramon Jayo 
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CHANGE TO TENDERS 

As required to report under s534(b) of the Local Government Act 1993, the following actions were 
taken under s488(2) – Changes to Tenders: 

 T114/08 – Purchase of Low Loader, Addendum Number 114A was issued 3 September 2008, 
providing additional information, in particular, changing the specification and particulars from “ATM 
Rating 22 tonne” to 41 Tonne nominally”; 

 T134/08 – Maintenance of Air-conditioning and Refrigeration Equipment, Addendum Number 1 was 
issued 1 December 2008, providing tenderers with additional information, a revised Specification 
Listing  and revised Price Schedule Response Form for completion; 

SHORT LISTING AFTER CALLING FOR EXPRESSIONS OF INTEREST  

Section 534(c) requires reporting on resolutions made during the period under s489 ( 1 ) of the Local 
Government Act (1993) – Short Listing after calling for expressions of interest. For the period 15 March 
2008 – 30 June 2009, no resolutions for completed Tenders were made to which this section applies.  

LIST OF REGISTERS AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC 

Members of the public may inspect the List of Registers and make copies or take extracts. 

If Council is required to provide a facility for the applicant to obtain a copy or an extract, a fee may be 
charged. 

The following List of Registers, as required by the Local Government Act 1993, is maintained by Council 
and open for inspection: 

SECTION OF ACT NAME OF REGISTER HELD BY 

S247 (1)(a) Register of Councillors’ Interests CEO 

S247 (1)(b) Register of Interests of Persons related to a Councillor CEO 

S472(4) Register of Delegations CEO 

S433 (1) Register of Electoral Gifts CEO 

S895 Register of Subordinate Local Laws Council 

S921 Map and Register of Roads Council 

S1071E(1) Register of Regulatory Fees Council 

S1132 (3) Register of Delegations by CEO to employees CEO 

S1139 (1)(a) Register of Interests of the CEO Mayor 

S1139 (1)(b) Register of Interests of persons related to CEO Mayor 

S1139 (2) Register of Employee Interests CEO 

S1193ZN(1) Restricted Dog Register Council 
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EQUAL OPPORTUNITY STATEMENT 

As required by the Local Government Amendment Regulation (No. 3) 1995, Council has established this 
EEO Policy Statement.  

A key corporate objective of this Council is to ensure that the workplace is free of discrimination and that 
recruitment, selection, promotion and transfer of employees are dealt with on the basis of merit.  

An EEO Management Plan is being developed in consultation with the workforce and relevant unions, 
aimed at ensuring all employees and applicants for employment are treated fairly, basing selection and 
promotion only on factors relevant to the job, such as skills, qualifications, abilities and aptitude.  

Council is strongly committed to the objectives of this program. Since people are our most important 
resource we must ensure that skills and potential are recognised, developed and used to best 
advantage, so we obtain the best person for the job. This in turn will ensure we provide a more effective 
service to the community we serve.  

The corporate responsibility for the EEO Program rests with the Chief Executive Officer. 

NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS LODGED AGAINST COUNCIL WITH OMBUDSMAN 

During this reporting period, the Ombudsman notified Council of one complaint.  This complaint was 
relative to road conditions located in the rural area of the region.  Council’s road crew carried out a 
maintenance grade and the matter was resolved.   

FINANCE STANDARD REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

 Details of overseas travel undertaken by a Councillor or employee - Nil 

 Services rendered by a consultant 

 Community Services    $87,806 

 Corporate Services     $61,637 

 Engineering Services    $49,959 

 Regulatory Services     $39,589  

         $238,991 

 

 Entertainment or hospitality services    $  15,543   

 Advertising        $  52,266   

 Grants to Community Organisations   $216,269 

 

LAND AND RESERVES 

Charters Towers Regional Council has control of: 
 
A) 1100.77ha of parks (including 79.439ha leased to sporting clubs), on land that comprises 49 

reserves under the Land Act 1994; and 

B) 4,370 kilometres of local roads and maintains 867.60 kilometres of declared roads on behalf of 
the Main Roads Department, but does not own these roads.   

The land does not have a value for Council’s financial statements.  
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Council

2009

INCOME

Recurrent Income

Net Rates and Utility Charges 3 (a) 12,647,152                            

Fees & Charges 3 (b) 2,586,448                              

Interest Income 3 (c) 1,890,901                              

Sales - Contract and recoverable works 3 (d) 12,905,823                            

Other 250,848                                 

Grants,Subsidies,Contributions & Donations 4 21,166,989                            

Total Recurrent Revenue 51,448,161                            

Capital Income

Gain on sale of non-current assets 6 300,758                                 

Grants, Subsidies, Contributions & Donations 4 3,186,986                              

Total Capital Revenue 3,487,744                              

TOTAL INCOME 54,935,905                            

EXPENSES

Recurrent Expense

Employee Benefits 7 (18,968,669)                           

Materials, Services, Maintenance & Other 8 (23,490,526)                           

Depreciation 9 (7,037,616)                             

Finance Costs 10 (92,295)                                  

Total Recurrent Expenses (49,589,106)                           

Capital Expense

Non-Current Asset Write Off (870,403)                                

Total Capital Expenses (870,403)                                

TOTAL EXPENSES (50,459,509)                           

       Net Operating result within the reporting period

       before Gain on restructure of Local Government 5 (c) 4,476,396                              

OPENING CAPITAL INCOME for the Regional Council

Add Gain on restructure of Local Government 5 (a) 338,407,969                          

NET RESULT ATTRIBUTABLE TO COUNCIL 342,884,365                          

Note

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

INCOME STATEMENT

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009
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CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

 BALANCE SHEET

As at 30 June 2009

Council

Note 2009

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivilents 11 23,153,700                  

Trade and Other Receivables 12 (a) 7,943,526                    

Other Financial Assets 13 263,924                       

Inventories 14 889,706                       

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 32,250,855                  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, Plant & Equipment 15 (a) 351,791,215                

Receivables 12 (b) 197,100                       

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 351,988,315                

TOTAL ASSETS 384,239,171                

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 16 (a) 3,507,381                    

Borrowings 17 (a) 189,585                       

Provisions 18 (a) 100,000                       

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,796,966                    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 16 (b) 470,503                       

Borrowings 17 (b) 385,667                       

Provisions 18 (b) 1,417,167                    
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,273,337                    

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,070,303                    

NET ASSETS 378,168,868                

COMMUNITY EQUITY

Retained Surplus 5,964,747                    

Council Capital 332,537,290                

Asset Revaluation Reserve 21 35,284,502                  

Other Reserves 22 4,382,329                    

TOTAL COMMUNITY EQUITY 378,168,868                

20

19

Financial Report for the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009 Page 3



Description of Movements

 Retained 

Surplus  Council Capital 

 Asset 

Revaluation 

Reserve 

 Future 

Capital Works 

Reserve 

 Contrained 

Works 

Reserve 

 Long Service 

Leave 

Reserve 

 Special 

Projects & 

Financial 

Reform Reserve 

 Technology 

and 

Geographical  

Information 

System 

Reserves  TOTAL 

Notes:
 1(w)(vi)            

&  19 

 1(w)(i)                  

&  20 

 1(w)(ii)                              

&  21  1(w)(iii)                       1(w)(iv)         1(w)(v)            1(w)(v)                              1(w)(v)             

30/06/09 30/06/09 30/06/09 30/06/09 30/06/09 30/06/09 30/06/09 30/06/09 30/06/09

Opening Balance at Amalgamation -                  -                    -                    -               -               -               -                   -                 -                    

Gain on Restructure

Assets and liabilities transferred

   from abolished Councils 338,403,569     -                    338,403,569        

Correction to liabilities** 4,400                4,400                  

Total Gain on Restructure 338,407,969     -                    -                    -               -               -               -                   -                 338,407,969        

Increase in Operating Capability

within the Reporting Period 4,476,396         4,476,396           

Revaluation of Property, Plant and

Equipment 35,284,502          35,284,502          

    

Transfers to/from Council Capital (332,537,290)    332,537,290        -                    

Reserve transfers for future expenditure (4,536,009)        1,845,000       86,233           580,000          1,656,756          368,020           -                    

Reserve funds expended in the period 153,680            (13,500)          (140,180)            -                    

CLOSING BALANCE 5,964,747         332,537,290        35,284,502          1,845,000       72,733           580,000          1,516,576          368,020           378,168,868        

 **Note: An incoming Liability to State Fire Services was overstated.  When corrected, this resulted in an increase to Equity.

Recurrent Reserves

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009

Capital Reserves
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Council
2009

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers 21,428,255
Payments to suppliers and employees (41,227,241)

(19,798,986)
Interest received 1,870,010
Rental Income 103,246
Non capital grants and contributions 4 21,166,989

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 23 3,341,258

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for property, plant and equipment (9,555,450)
Receivables-Community Loan Repayments 85,703
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 446,476
Capital Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 4 3,186,986

Net cash inflow (outflow) from Investing Activities (5,836,285)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of Loan Borrowings (276,385)

Net cash inflow from financing activities (276,385)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH HELD (2,771,412)

Cash flow arising from restructure of local government 5 (a) 25,925,112

Cash at end of reporting period 11 23,153,700

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009

Note
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CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009  

 

 

 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 The significant policies adopted in the preparation of these Financial Statements are: 
 
 (a) Basis of Preparation 

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and complies with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1993, the Local 
Government Reform Implementation Regulation 2008 and the Local Government Finance 
Standard 2005. 
 
The Local Government Reform Commission report to the Minister for Local Government, Planning 
and Sport on 27 July 2007 recommended that the former Charters Towers City Council and 
Dalrymple Shire Council be amalgamated to form the Charters Towers Regional Council (CTRC). 
Pursuant to Part 1B of the Local Government Act 1993 and in accordance with the Local 
Government Reform Implementation Regulation 2008. the CTRC was formed on the 15 March 
2008. 
 
The Local Government Reform Implementation Regulation 2008 and the Local Government 
Reform Implementation (Transferring Areas) Amendment Regulation (No. 1) 2008 transferred the 
assets and liabilities of the former Charters Towers City Council and Dalrymple Shire Council to the 
Charters Towers Regional Council as at changeover date. 
 
Pursuant to section 159YQ of the Local Government Act 1993 and sections 26 and 35 of the Local 
Government Reform Implementation Regulation 2008, financial statements have been prepared for 
the period starting on 15 March 2008 and ending on 30 June 2009. Future periods will be for twelve 
month periods starting 1 July and ending on 30 June.  
 
Assets and liabilities of the former councils have been recognised by Charters Towers Regional 
Council on 15 March 2008 at the previous book values of the transferor local governments. This is 
shown as income in the Income Statement and details are disclosed in Note 5.  
 
Charters Towers Regional Council adopted consistent accounting policies from its commencement 
date of 15 March 2008. In some cases, this resulted in adjustments to the measurement of assets 
and liabilities transferred from former councils as at 15 March 2008. These accounting policy 
alignment adjustments are shown in the Income Statement and details are disclosed in Note 5.  
 
This financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the 
revaluation of certain Non-Current Assets. 

 
(b) Statement of Compliance 

Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (AIFRS).  Because the Council is a not-for-profit entity and the Australian 
Accounting Standards include requirements for not-for-profit entities which are inconsistent with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), to the extent these inconsistencies are 
applied this Report does not comply with IFRS.  The main impact is in:  

• the offsetting of revaluation and impairment gains and losses within a class of assets 
• the recognition of assets and liabilities of the former councils at the amounts at which they 

were recognised by the transferor local governments.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Cont’d 
 

(c) Adoption of new Accounting Standards 
 
The following Australian Accounting Standards, issued on the dates shown, are not mandatory for 
the period ending 30 June 2009 and have not been applied: 

• AASB3 Business Combinations (March 2008) 
• AASB8 Operating Segments (Feb 2007) 
• AASB101 Presentation of Financial Statements (September 2007) 
• AASB123 Borrowing Costs (June 2007) 
• AASB127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (March 2008) 
• AASB1039 Concise Financial Reports (August 2008) 
• AASB 2007-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB8 

(February 2007) 
• AASB2007-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB123 (June 

2007) 
• AASB 2007-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB101 

(September 2007) 
• AASB 2007-10 Further Amendments to Australian Accounts Standards arising from AASB 

101 
• AASB 2008-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard – Shared-based Payments: 

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations (February 2008) 
• AASB 2008-2 Amendments to Accounting Standards – Puttable Financial Instruments and 

Obligations arising on Liquidation (March 2008) 
• AASB 2008-3 Amendments to Accounting Standards arising from AASB3 and AASB127 

(March 2008) 
• AASB 2008-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 

Improvements Project 
• AASB 2008-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Cost of an Investment in a 

Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate ( July 2008) 
• AASB 2008-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Eligible Hedged Items 

[AASB 139] (August 2008) 
• AASB 2008-9 Amendments to AASB 1049 for Consistency with AASB 101 (September 

2008) 
• AASB 2008-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard – Business Combinations 

Among Not-for-Profit Entities [AASB 3] (November 2008) 
• AASB 2008-13 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 

Interpretation 17 – Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners (December 2008) [AASB 5 
& AASB 110] 

• Interpretation 15 – Agreements for the construction of Real Estate (August 2008) 
• Interpretation 16 – Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operating (August 2008) 
• Interpretation 17- Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners (December 2008) 

 
 

It is not expected that the new standards would have made a substantial difference to the results if 
they had applied to this accounting period.  Most of the changes are matters of presentation. 

 
(d) Constitution 

The Charters Towers Regional Council is constituted under the Local Government Act 1993 (QLD) 
and is domiciled in Australia. 
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CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009  

 

 
 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Cont’d 

 
(e) Critical Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the Council's accounting policies. Estimates and judgements are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial 
impact on the Council and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have the potential to cause a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are referred to in the 
appropriate notes to the financial statements. 
 

(f) Currency 
The Council uses the Australian dollar is both the functional and presentation currency. 
 

(g) Date of Authorisation 
The financial report was authorised for issue on the date it was submitted to the Auditors for final 
signature.  This is the date the management certificate is signed. 
 
The Local Government has the power to amend the Financial Report after it is authorised for issue 
until the adoption of the report by the Local Government as part of the Annual Report. 
 

(h) Changes to Accounting Policies 
Unless otherwise stated, accounting policies have been consistently applied throughout the period.  

 
(i) Trust Fund Held for Outside Parties 

A separate bank account and separate accounting record is maintained for the Trust Fund being 
monies held in trust in a custodial role such as securities.  As such monies cannot be used for 
Council purposes, they are not considered revenue, nor brought into account in these financial 
statements.  However, they are disclosed in Note 24 to the financial statements for information 
purposes only. 

 
(j) Rates, Grants and Other Revenue 

Rates, grants and other revenue are recognised as revenues when the Council obtains control over 
assets comprising the contributions. 

 
(i) Rates 

Control over assets acquired from rates is obtained at the commencement of the rating 
period.  Where rate monies are received in advance of a rating period, the amount is 
recognised as revenue at the time of receipt. See Note 3. 

 
(ii) Grants and Subsidies 

Control over granted assets is obtained upon their receipt or upon prior notification that a 
grant has been secured. 

 
(iii) Non-Cash Contributions 

Non-cash contributions with a value in excess of the recognition thresholds set out in 
Note 1r(i), are recognised as revenue and as non-current assets. Non-cash contributions 
below the thresholds are recorded as revenue and expenses. 

 
(iv) Other Revenue Including Contributions  

Other revenue is recognised as a receivable when it is probable that it will be received and 
the amount is known, otherwise the amount is recognised upon receipt.  
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CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009  

 

 
 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Cont’d 

 
(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash includes Cash at Bank and Cash on 
Investment, all being readily convertible to cash on hand. 

 
(l) Receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value due at the time of sale or service delivery and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for 
impairment.  Settlement of these amounts is required within 30 days from invoice date.  
 
The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically and, if there is objective evidence that 
Council will not be able to collect all amounts due, the carrying amount is reduced with provision 
being made for impairment.  The loss is recognised in other expenses. 
 
Credit Risk Receivables 
The maximum credit risk exposure of Receivables as at 30 June 2009 is the carrying amount of 
these assets as shown in Note 12 and Note 29. 

 
(m) Other Financial Assets 

  Other Financial Assets are recognised at cost.  
 
(n) Judgements and Assumptions  

Council has made no judgements or assessments which may cause a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period. 

 
(o) Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

Categorisation 

 Charters Towers Regional Council has categorised the financial assets and financial liabilities held 
at balance date as follows: 

Financial Assets Categorisation 

Cash  
Trade and Other Receivables Loans and receivables (at amortised 

cost) 
Other Financial Assets At Cost 

  

Financial Liabilities Categorisation 

Trade and Other Payables Financial liability (at cost) 
Borrowings Financial liability (at amortised cost) 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are presented separately from each other, offsetting has not 
been applied. 
 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 
measurement and for disclosure purposes. 
 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is determined as follows: 
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets and 
financial liabilities approximate their carrying amounts and are not disclosed separately. 
 
All borrowings are in Australian dollar denominated amounts and carried at amortised cost, interest 
being expensed as it accrues.  No interest has been capitalised during the current or comparative 
reporting period. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009  

 

 

 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Cont’d 

 
The fair value of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their nominal value 
less estimated credit adjustments. 
 
The fair value of prepayments is represented by the book value as the period of time to 
consumption is short and there are no rates involved in the calculation, therefore they are not 
disclosed separately. 

 
(p) Inventories 

Inventories are reported at the lower value of net realisable value or cost. Costs are assigned to the 
Inventory on the basis of weighted average cost. 

 
Inventories held for distribution are: 

•••• Goods to be supplied at no, or nominal charge, and 
•••• Goods to be used for the provision of services at no, or nominal charge. 

These goods are valued at the lower of cost and replacement cost. 
 
(q) Investments 

Financial institution deposits at call and term deposits with a short maturity of three months or less 
are treated as cash equivalents. 
 
Investments are brought to account at net fair value and interest income is recognised as it 
accrues. 

 
(r) Property, Plant & Equipment 

 
(i) Non-Current Assets Threshold 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated at cost or fair value less, where 
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.  Items of 
property, plant & equipment with a value less than $5,000, except for land, infrastructure 
assets and fleet items, are treated as an expense in the year of acquisition. All other items of 
property, plant and equipment are capitalised. 

 
(ii) Capital and Operating Expenditure 

As a general rule, material expenditure incurred in the purchase or development of assets is 
treated as capital expenditure.  Expenditure to maintain the operational capacity and lifespan 
of the non-current asset, is considered maintenance, and is treated as an expense. 

 
(iii) Acquisition 

Acquisitions of assets are initially recorded at cost. Cost is determined as a fair value of the 
assets given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including architect’s 
fees and engineering design fees and all other establishment costs.   

 
Non-monetary assets, including property, plant and equipment, received in the form of 
grants or contributions, are recognised as assets and revenues at fair value by Council 
valuation. 

 
Fair value means the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, 
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 
 
Assets transferred from the former Charters Towers City Council and Dalrymple Shire 
Council, as a result of a Government restructure, were initially recognised at the amount at 
which they were recognised by the former councils as at the changeover date as disclosed 
in Note 1(a) and Note 5.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009  

 

 

 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Cont’d 

 
(iv) Valuation 

Land, buildings, storm drains, city roads, rural roads, water and sewerage infrastructure are 
measured on the revaluation basis, at fair value, in accordance with AASB116 Property, 
Plant and Equipment and the Local Government Finance Standard 2005.  This revaluation 
may involve the application of a suitable index to the cost elements of each asset, or may 
involve an independent assessment of the value. 

 
 Non-current physical assets measured at fair value are revalued where required so that the 

carrying amount of each class of asset does not materially differ from its fair value at the 
reporting date.  This is achieved by comprehensively revaluing these assets at least once 
every five years with interim valuations, using a suitable index, being otherwise performed on 
an annual basis where there has been a material variation in the index.   Details of valuers 
and methods of valuations are disclosed in Note 15(b). 

 
All other non-current assets, primarily plant fleet and equipment, are measured at cost. 

 
(v) Asset Revaluation Reserve 

The asset revaluation reserve comprises of adjustments relating to changes in value of 
property, plant and equipment that do not result from the use of those assets.  Net 
incremental changes in the carrying value of classes of non-current assets, since their initial 
recognition, are accumulated in this reserve.  Increases and decreases on revaluation are 
offset within a class of assets. 

 
    (vi) Depreciation of Property, Plant & Equipment 

To achieve a systematic and rational allocation of the value of non-current assets over their 
estimated useful lives, depreciation represents the consumption of the service potential of 
the asset. The Prabhu-Edgerton Consumption Model of depreciation is applied to City Road 
Infrastructure and Buildings, while straight line depreciation is applied to all other assets.  

 
Assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition, or, if internally constructed, from the 
date the asset is completed and ready for use.  Where assets have separately identifiable 
components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned 
useful lives distinct from the asset to which they relate.  Any expenditure that increases 
the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the new 
depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset to the 
Council. 
  
The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually. Details of 
the range of useful lives, for each class of asset, are as follows: 

   
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Years 

• Land – Not Depreciated N/A 

• Buildings (consumption-based) 10-60 

• Plant Fleet 3-50 

• Equipment 3-50 

• Storm Drains 100 

• City Roads (consumption-based) 10-100 

• Rural Roads 15-200 

• Water Infrastructure 20-100 

• Sewerage Infrastructure 10-60 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Cont’d 

 
(vii) Unfunded Depreciation  

Charters Towers Regional Council has elected not to fund depreciation expenses for assets 
that will not be replaced or where external funding sources other then loans will be obtained 
to fund their replacement. Depreciation is funded to the extent necessary to meet future 
replacement capital works.  No unfunded depreciation was required during the reporting 
period. 

  
(viii) Impairment of Non-Current Assets 

All non-current physical assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual 
basis. If an indicator of possible impairment exists, the department determines the asset's 
recoverable amount. Any amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss. 

 
The asset's recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset's fair value less 
costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 

 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Income Statement, unless the asset is 
carried at a revalued amount. When the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the 
impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation reserve of the relevant class to the 
extent available. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 

 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income, unless the asset is carried at a 
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation increase. 

 
(ix) Major Plant 

It is the policy of Charters Towers Regional Council that only plant and equipment that has a 
cost of greater than $1,000,000 is considered to be of high value for the purposes of defining 
Major Plant.  

 
(x) Land Under Roads 

The Charters Towers Regional Council does not control any land under roads. All land under 
the road network within the council area has been dedicated and opened for public use 
under the Land Act 1994 or the Land Title Act 1994 and is not controlled by council but is 
controlled by the State pursuant to the relevant legislation. Therefore this land is not 
recognised in these financial statements.  

 
(s) Capital Work in Progress 

The cost of property plant and equipment being constructed by the Council includes the cost of 
purchased services, materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of labour overheads. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Cont’d 

  
(t) Employee Benefits 

Liabilities are recognised for employee benefits such as wages and salaries, annual leave and long 
service leave in respect of services provided by the employees up to the reporting date.  Liabilities 
for employee benefits are assessed at each reporting date.  Where it is expected that the leave will 
be taken in the next twelve months the liability is treated as a current liability.  Otherwise the liability 
is treated as non-current. 
 
(i) Wages and Salaries 

 A liability for wages and salaries is recognised, and measured as the amount unpaid at the 
reporting date at current pay rates in respect of employee services up to that date. This 
liability is treated as a payable and is reported at Note 16. 

 

(ii) Long Service Leave 
A liability for Long Service Leave is measured as the present value of the estimated future 
cash outflows to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date.  The value of the liability is calculated using current pay rates and projected future 
increases in those rates and includes related employee on-costs.  The estimates are 
adjusted for the probability of the employee remaining in the Council’s employment which 
would result in the Council being required to meet the liability.  Adjustments are then made to 
allow for the proportion of the benefit earned to date, and the result is discounted to present 
value.  The interest rates attaching, as at the reporting date, to Commonwealth Government 
guaranteed securities are used to discount the estimated future cash outflows to their 
present value.  The value of the liability was calculated using current pay rates and projected 
future increases, and includes related employee on-costs.  This liability is reported in Note 
18 as a provision.  

 
(iii) Annual Leave 

 A liability for annual leave is recognised.  The current portion is based on current wage and 
salary levels and includes related employee on-costs.  The non-current portion is based on 
projected future wage and salary levels and related employee on-costs discounted to 
present values.  This liability is treated as a payable and not as a provision and is reported at 
Note 16. 

  
(iv) Superannuation 

The superannuation expense for the reporting period is the amount of the statutory 
contribution made by the local government to the employees superannuation plan.  Details 
of arrangements are set out in Note 26.  

 
(u) Trade and Other Payables 

Trade and other payables have been recognised as a liability at the time of the goods being 
received, or the service being performed.  The amount recognised for each creditor is based on 
purchase or contract costs.  The amounts are unsecured and are normally settled within 30 
working days. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Cont’d 
 

(v) Borrowings 
Loans payable are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through 
the expected life of the financial instrument. 
 
Borrowings costs, which includes interest calculated using the effective interest method and 
administration fees, are expensed in the period in which they arise.  Costs that are not settled in the 
period in which they arise are added to the carrying amount of the borrowing. 
 
Borrowing costs are treated as an expense, as assets constructed by the council are generally 
completed within one year and therefore are not considered to be qualifying assets. 
 
Gains and losses on the early redemption of borrowings are recorded in other revenue/expense. 
 
Loans and borrowings have been recognised as a liability for the year ended 30 June 2009 at their 
amortised cost.  
 

(w) Components of Equity 
 

(i) Capital  
The Capital account, combined with the Asset Revaluation Reserve represent the amount of 
Capital, currently required, and in use by the Council, to maintain assets and infrastructure at 
existing levels of operating capability.  See Note 20 for further information. 
 

(ii) Asset Revaluation Reserve 
The asset revaluation reserve comprises adjustments relating to changes in value of 
property, plant and equipment that do not result from the use of those assets.  Net 
incremental changes in the carrying value of classes of non-current assets since their initial 
recognition are accumulated in this reserve.  See Note 21 for further information. 
 
Increases and decreases on revaluation are offset within a class of assets. 
 
Where a class of assets is decreased on revaluation, the decrease is offset against the 
amount remaining in the asset revaluation reserve, for that class.  Any excess is treated as 
an expense.  Disposals are reflected in the same manner. 

 
(iii) Future Capital Works Reserves 

Contains funding set aside for additional Capital Work infrastructure.  See Equity Statement. 
 

(iv) Constrained Works Reserve 
Developer Contributions received towards works pending.  

 
(v) Other Non-Capital Reserves 

See Equity Statement for Values.  A Special Projects Reserve funding identified projects to 
be actioned in future years.  The Information Technology (IT) Reserve holds funds 
sufficient to meet all future IT non-capital replacements. The Geographical Information 

System (GIS) Reserve is progressively building to provide funds for activities such as aerial 
photography and digitisation of infrastructure assets.  The Long Service Leave Reserve 
holds cash for accrued long service leave payouts. 

 
(vi) Retained Surplus/(Deficiency) 

This account represents either Council’s net cash funds not required to meet immediate 
requirements or specific future needs, or contains operational project subsidies which have 
expenditure that crosses into the following year.  The balance of this account at the end of 
each financial year represents the amount available to Council to be offset against 
expenditure in the following year or, if a deficit, represents the additional amount of revenue 
needed to be raised in the following year.   
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Cont’d 

 
(x) National Competition Policy 

 
  The Charters Towers Regional Council has reviewed its activities and has not identified any 

activities that are Type 1 or Type 2 business activities. 
 

Council has identified and applied the Code of Competitive Conduct to its open tenders in 
respect of a Roads Business Activity; for work involving the construction or maintenance of 
State-controlled roads for which Council submits an offer to carry out works in response to a 
tender invitation other than through sole supplier arrangements. To date this has only had 
application to tenders submitted, as Council has not been successful in winning an open tender 
contract.   
 
Relative to Section 763A of the Queensland Local Government Act, while Council does offer a 
Building Certification service, it is provided as a means of meeting Council’s statutory duty of 
service, not a competitive business activity. 
 

(y) Rounding and Comparatives 
 

 Amounts included in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest $1. 
 

Comparative figures have not been provided as Charters Towers Regional Council commenced 
operation on 15 March 2008 and the financial statements cover the period 15 March 2008 to 30 
June 2009. 

 
(z) Financial Risk Management 
 
 The Council minimises its exposure to financial risk in the following way: 
 Investments in financial assets are only made where those assets are with a bank or other financial 

institution in Australia, and are for a period of less than one year. 
 
 The Council does not invest in derivatives or other risk investments. 

 
 When Council borrows, it borrows from the Queensland Treasury Corporation unless another 

financial institution can offer a more beneficial rate, taking into account any risk. Borrowing by the 
council is constrained by the provisions of the Statutory Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982. 

 Details of the financial instruments and the associated risks are shown at Note 29.  
 
(aa) Taxation 
 

Income of local authorities and public authorities is exempt from Commonwealth taxation except 
for Fringe Benefit Tax and Goods and Services Tax (GST).  The net amount of GST recoverable 
from or payable to the ATO is shown as an asset or liability respectively. 



2.       FUNCTIONS/ACTIVITIES OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT

          (a)     ANALYSIS BY FUNCTION

FUNCTIONS

Recurring Capital Recurring Capital

2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Corporate & Governance 

Services 19,564,014           63,507                   -                     19,627,521           3,030,668                 690,449           -                       3,721,117             16,533,346           15,906,404           56,042,694              

Regulatory Services 2,314,725             -                     2,314,725             2,888,946                 253                  -                       2,889,199             (574,221)              (574,474)              6,322,705                

Engineering Services -                     -                     -                     

    Works 22,560,800           1,732,916              24,293,716           25,839,254               -                 -                       25,839,254           (3,278,454)           (1,545,538)           213,362,809            

    Fleet 217,974                237,250                 455,225                4,308,266                 40,614             -                       4,348,880             (4,090,292)           (3,893,655)           20,361,363              

    Water 3,376,449             493,309                 -                     3,869,758             5,263,702                 68,843             -                       5,332,545             (1,887,253)           (1,462,787)           34,644,350              

    Sewerage 2,060,811             110,625                 -                     2,171,436             1,602,610                 5,036               -                       1,607,646             458,201                563,790                15,807,421              

Community Services 1,353,387             850,136                 -                     2,203,523             6,655,660                 65,208             -                       6,720,868             (5,302,273)           (4,517,345)           37,697,829              

 

Total Council 51,448,161           3,487,744              -                     54,935,905           49,589,106               870,403           -                       50,459,509           1,859,055             4,476,396             384,239,171            

 

Assets

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL
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Elimination of 

inter-function 

transactions Total expenses

Net result from 

recurring 

operations

Net result 

attributable to 

council within the 

reporting period

Gross program income

Elimination of 

inter-function 

transactions Total income

Gross program expenses
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2. FUNCTIONS/ACTIVITIES OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT Cont’d 
 

(b) Total assets shown in the "Analysis By Function" Report are reconciled with the amounts shown for 
assets in the statement of financial position as follows: 
 2009 
Current Assets 32,250,855 
Non-Current Assets 351,988,316 
 384,239,171 

 
(c) The activities of the Council are categorised into four Directorates.  The functions of each 

Directorate are summarised below. 
 
 

CORPORATE & GOVERNANCE SERVICES DIRECTORATE 
To provide good government for the citizens residing and working within the Charters Towers Region. 
 
General Administration 
To conduct the overall management of the Region’s Administration in accordance with the provisions 
of the Local Government Act and other Acts, and to facilitate the business of Council, covering 
Customer Services and Rating. 
 
Financial and Business Services 
To facilitate the business of Council in a timely and professional manner to ensure that the financial 
resources of Council are effectively reported and efficiently utilised.  Functions include Financial 
Operations, Assets, Insurance and Procurement. 
 
Information Technology 
To maximise the benefits of Council’s I.T. operations and to enhance I.T. as a management tool in all 
Council operations by providing direction, policy, system assessment and training to system users. 
 
Human Resource Management 
To prepare and implement policies and procedures in keeping with standard human resource 
requirements and recognised management practices to enhance the value and professionalism of 
Council’s human resources. 
 
 

 REGULATORY SERVICES DIRECTORATE 
 

Health Services 
To develop a range of programs (public education and otherwise) which promote the merits of improved 
health, awareness, well-being, and understanding in the community and to access other sources which 
support the objective and which can be effective in providing an improved level of public health and 
services.  Functions include Refuse, Environmental Management (Animals, Weeds, Fire Prevention) and 
Saleyards. 
 
Community Development 
To encourage community development in a fair and rational manner and to implement planning strategies 
within the framework of government legislation.  Functions include Heritage Management and the 
implementation of the Integrated Development Assessment Scheme. 
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2. FUNCTIONS/ACTIVITIES OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT Cont’d 

 
ENGINEERING SERVICES DIRECTORATE 
 
Works 
To provide and maintain a transport system within the Region to a standard which meets the objectives of 
safety and need within the financial framework of Council’s Works Program.  To maintain a five year 
works program to ensure the adequacy of the roads system and to service all parts of the Region. 
 
Fleet 
To provide well maintained plant and equipment and ensure resources of plant and equipment are well 
managed. 
 

 Water 
To provide consumers with a water supply that is of high quality, clear, affordable, and reliable and to 
develop strategies to extend the service as required. 
 

 Sewerage 
To provide and maintain an adequate, affordable and reliable sewerage system and to develop strategies 
to extend the sewerage systems as required. 
 
 

 COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTORATE 
 

Recreation/Cultural Services 
To provide and maintain public open space, recreational and sporting facilities that meet the needs of the 
community.  To recognise in policy, the need to preserve cultural values, by facilitating programs and 
supporting initiatives which are directed at enhancing local history and culture, and to promote these ideas 
to the community.  Functions include Culture, Youth, Seniors, Theatre, Library, Pools, Community 
Buildings, Parks, Gardens and Play Areas. 
 
Area Promotion 
To continue the advancement of the area by promotion of its extensive assets, attractions and 
opportunities and to provide the necessary resources to continue Council’s program of strategic and 
tourist developments. 
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3.  RECURRENT REVENUE ANALYSIS 

(a) Net Rate and Utility Charges 

 Council 
2009 

General Rates 7,739,860 

Cleansing / Refuse 653,617 

Water Services 3,254,595 

Water – Excess Allocation 365,672 

Sewerage 2,244,147 

Total Rates and Utility Charges Revenue 14,257,891 

Less: Discounts (1,442,078) 

 Pensioner Remissions (168,661) 

Net Rate and Utility Charges 12,647,152 

 (b) Fees and Charges 

 Council 
2009 

Animal Control Fees and Charges 109,105 

Cemetery Fees and Charges 90,531 

Landfill Fees and Charges 46,457 

Reserve Rental 15,253 

Saleyards Fees and Charges 1,618,099 

Search Fees 57,977 

Water Services 103,781 

World Theatre Fees and Charges 69,356 

Other Regulatory Fees and Charges 219,962 

Other Rental/Hire Fee and Charges 130,814 

Other Fees and Charges 125,113 

Total Fees and Charges 2,586,448 

(c) Interest Income 

 Council 
2009 

Interest received on Investments 1,803,568 

Interest received on Community Loans 20,892 

Interest received on Overdue Rates and Charges 66,442 

Total Interest Income 1,890,902 

 

(d) Sales – Contract and Recoverable Works 

 Council 
2009 

Private Work reimbursements 256,676 

Main Roads Contract reimbursements 12,505,196 

Other 143,951 

Total Other Income 12,905,823 

The amount recognised as revenue for contract revenue during the period is the amount receivable 
in respect of invoices issued during the period.  There are no contracts in progress at the year end. 
 The contract work carried out is not subject to retentions. 



4(a).  GRANTS, SUBSIDIES, CONTRIBUTIONS AND DONATIONS

Council

Note 2009

1) Recurrent

General Purpose Grants 10,276,755                  

Government Grants and subsidies 10,844,130                  

Contributions 40,559                         

Donations 5,545                           

Total Recurrent Grants, Subsidies, Contributions & Donations 21,166,989                  

2) Capital 

Government Grants and subsidies 4(b) 2,290,921                    

Contributions 4(c) 896,065                       

Total Capital Grants & Subsidies 3,186,986                    

Total Grants, Subsidies, Contributions and Donations 24,353,975                  

Reconciles to:

Grants & Subsidies Total 4(b) 23,411,806                  

Contributions Total 4(c) 936,624                       

Donations 5,545                           

24,353,975                  

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4(b).  GRANTS & SUBSIDIES DETAIL

Council

2009

Corporate Services

   Emergency Services (SES Operations)                             3,600 

   Staff Training & Development                         455,421 

Sub-total  459,021                        

Regulatory Services

   Animal Management 27,508                          

   Land Management 16,000                          

Sub-total 43,508                          

Engineering Services

   Roads - Flood Damage 8,431,863                     

   State Fuel Subsidy 55,154                          

   Energy Grants Scheme 179,267                        

   Roads - Transport Infrastructure Development Scheme (TIDS) 405,712                        

   Roads - Roads to Recovery 2,116,115                     

Sub-total 11,188,110                   

Water

   Water Augmentation 120,100                        

   Weir Boat Ramp 102,273                        

Sub-total 222,373                        

Community Services

   Cultural/Heritage 126,794                        

   Youth Development 106,981                        

   Health and Community Care 140,208                        

   Community Development 848,056                        

Sub-total 1,222,039                     

General Purpose Grants 10,276,755                   

Total Grant & Subsidy Revenue 23,411,806                   

LESS Grant & Subsidy Debtors (yet to be paid) 2,681,353                     

Grant Funding Cash Received 20,730,453                   

NIL

NIL

Analysis of Capital Grants and Subsidies included in Above Note

TIDS Program 405,712                        

Commonwealth Roads to Recovery 826,010                        

Water Augmentation 120,100                        

Weir Boat Ramp 102,273                        

Cultural/Heritage 25,000                          

Community Development 811,826                        

Total Capital Grants and Subsidies 2,290,921                     

Grants received and recognised as liabilities in the previous reporting period but which were recognised as revenues during 

the current reporting period upon fulfilment of the conditions for which they were obtained are:

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009

Grants and contributions which were recognised as revenues during the reporting period which were obtained on the condition 

that they be expended on defined activities but had  yet to be applied in that manner as at the reporting date were:
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4.(c) CONTRIBUTIONS DETAIL

Council

2009

Engineering Services

   Road Infrastructure Contributions 401,998                       

   Drum Muster Contribution 3,968                           

Sub-total 405,966                       

Water

   Water Headworks 270,936                       

Sub-total 270,936                       

Sewerage

   Sewerage Headworks 110,625                       

Sub-total 110,625                       

Community Services

   Community Development 125,106                       

   Cultural/Heritage 23,310                         

   Youth Development 682                              

Sub-total 149,098                       

Total Contributions 936,624                       

LESS Contributions Debtors (yet to be paid) 8,636                           

Contribution Cash Received 927,988                       

Analysis of Capital Contributions included in Above Note

World Theatre Projector 13,310                         

Water Headworks 270,936                       

Roads Infrastructure contibutions 389,361                       

Sewerage Headworks 110,625                       

Aerodrome Runway 111,833                       

Total Capital Contributions 896,065                       

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009
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CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009

5(a).  GAIN ON RESTRUCTURE OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT

The assets and liabilities of the former councils have been recognised at the amounts at which they were recognised by the transferor local government as at the changeover day.

Details are as follows:

 Charters Towers City 

Council  Dalrymple Shire Council 

Total assets and liabilities 

recognised by Charters Towers 

Regional Council

 Adjustments due to 

accounting policy 

alignment 

 Gain on restructure of local 

government 

14-March-2008 14-March-2008 15-March-2008 2009 2009

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalent 15,752,147 10,172,965 25,925,112 0 25,925,112

Trade and Other Receivables 763,351 359,476 1,122,827 0 1,122,827

Other Financial Assets 18,565 204,469 223,034 0 223,034

Inventories 299,811 494,494 794,305 0 794,305

16,833,874 11,231,404 28,065,278 0 28,065,278

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 0 0 0

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 16,833,875 11,231,404 28,065,279 0 28,065,279

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Work in Progress 1,599,706 1,551,549 3,151,255 0 3,151,255

Property, Plant & Equipment 32,369,789 42,853,779 75,223,568 75,223,568

Infrastructure 109,571,370 127,204,443 236,775,813 236,775,813

143,540,865 171,609,771 315,150,636 0 315,150,636

Loans and advances to community organisations 48,096 216,103 264,199 0 264,199

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 143,588,962 171,825,874 315,414,836 0 315,414,836

TOTAL ASSETS 160,422,837 183,057,278 343,480,115 0 343,480,115

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 1,084,278 1,374,577 2,458,855 (4,400) 2,454,455

Borrowings 0 276,385 276,385 0 276,385

Provisions 12,678 100,000 112,678 0 112,678

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,096,956 1,750,962 2,847,918 (4,400) 2,843,518

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 139,280 157,862 297,142 0 297,142

Borrowings 0 521,917 521,917 0 521,917

Provisions 558,423 851,146 1,409,569 0 1,409,569

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 697,703 1,530,925 2,228,628 0 2,228,628

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,794,659 3,281,887 5,076,546 (4,400) 5,072,146

NET ASSETS TRANSFERRED FROM ABOLISHED COUNCILS 158,628,178 179,775,391 338,403,569 (4,400) 338,407,969

5(b).  Adjustment due to accounting policy alignment 5(c). Net result attributable to Council before net assets transferred from abolished Councils

(4,400) Net result attributable to Council 342,884,365

Gain on restructure of local government 338,407,969

Net result attributable before Gain on restructure 4,476,396

An OPENING LIABILITY ADJUSTMENT was required to remove an incorrectly stated Liability to State Fire Services.

The Local Government Reform Implementation Regulation 2008 and Local Government Reform Implementation (Transferring Areas) Amendment Regulation (No.1) 2008 transferred the assets and liabilities of the former Charters Towers City 

and Dalrymple Shire Councils to the Charters Towers Regional Council as at changeover date.  

Charters Towers Regional Council adopted consistent accounting policies from its commencement date of 15 March 2008.  In some cases, this resulted in adjustments to the measurement of assets and liabilities transferred from former councils 

as at 15 March 2008. 

The Local Government Reform Commission report to the Minister for Local Government, Planning and Sport on 27 July 2007 recommended that the former Charters Towers City and Dalrymple Shire Councils be amalgamated to form the 

Charters Towers Regional Council.  Pursuant to Part 1B of the Local Government Act 1993 and in accordance with the Local Government Reform Implementation Regulation 2008, the amalgamation was effective from the changeover date of 15 

March 2008.  
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CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009 

 
6. GAIN ON SALE OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

 

 
Council 

2009 

Sale Proceeds 446,476 

Less: Written Down Value (145,718) 

 300,758 

 

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 

 
Council 

2009 

Total Staff Salaries and Wages 15,601,843 

Councillors’ Remuneration 443,771 

Annual, sick and long service leave entitlements 1,484,068 

Superannuation 1,720,105 

Total Direct Employee Costs 19,249,787 

  

Other Employee Costs 95,184 

 
19,344,971 

 

Less:  Capitalised Employee Expenses 
(376,302) 

 

Total Employee Costs 18,968,669 

 

Councillor remuneration represents salary, and other allowances paid in respect 
of carrying our their duties. 
 

 Employee Numbers  - Full-time equivalents 260 

     - Casual 22 

     - Councillors (incl. Mayor) 7 

 
8. MATERIALS, SERVICES, MAINTENANCE & OTHER  
 

 Council 
2009 

Advertising and marketing 57,387 

Administration supplies and consumables  58,982 

Audit Fees 86,468 

Communications and IT 667,413 

Consultants 87,324 

Contractors 242,624 

Donations paid 300,975 

Power 70,365 

Repairs and maintenance and Other materials 21,916,475 

Town Plant 2,513 

 23,490,526 
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CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009 

 

 
 
9. DEPRECIATION 

 
Council 

2009 

Buildings 925,262 

Plant Fleet 2,203,798 

Equipment 243,890 

Storm Drains 9,787 

City Roads 630,590 

Rural Roads 1,229,066 

Water Infrastructure 1,039,411 

Sewerage Infrastructure 755,812 

TOTAL DEPRECIATION 7,037,616 

 
 

10. FINANCE COSTS 
  

 
Council 

2009 

Finance costs charged by Queensland Treasury Corporation 53,335 

Bank Charges 38,960 

TOTAL FINANCE COSTS 92,295 

 



Council

2009

11. Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash at bank 405,317                                   

Working Capital Floats 5,491                                       

Deposits at call 21,742,891                              

Term Deposits 1,000,000                                

23,153,700                              

12. Trade and Other Receivables

(a)  Current

Rateable revenue and utility charges 182,530                                   

Loan and advances to community organisations 35,050                                     

Other debtors 7,725,945                                

7,943,526                                

(b)  Non-Current

Long Term Community Loans

Charters Towers & Dalrymple Archives Group 320                                          

Charters Towers Mens' Bowling Club 11,275                                     

Charters Towers Netball Association 21,495                                     

NQ Soaring Club -                                           

Towers Players -                                           

Blackheath and Thornburgh College 164,010                                   

197,101                                   

13. Other Financial Assets

Prepayments 263,924                                   

263,924                                   

14. Inventories

      Inventories Held for Sale

Visitor Information Gift Shop 44,828                                     

44,828                                     

Valued at lower of cost of net realisable value

Inventories Held for Distribution

Works Depot Stores               844,878                                   

844,878                                   

Valued at cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential

889,706                                   

Loans relate to advances made to various sporting bodies, community groups and a School.  These loans arise 

from time to time and are subject to negotiated interest rates.  The credit risk on these loans is considered low.

Cash at bank is held with the Commonwealth Bank in a normal business account with a credit ratings of AA.

Deposits at call are held with Queensland Treasury Corporation Cash Fund.

A single Term Deposit is held with Queensland Country Credit Union, which is an unrated Credit Union.

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

Interest is charged on outstanding rates at a rate of 11% per annum.  No interest is charged on other debtors.  

There is no concentration of credit risk for rates and utility charges and fees, however much of the other debtors 

receivable balance is comprised of $6,005,547 owed from the Department of Main Roads for various road 

contracts and $1,326,382 owed from the Department of Local Government Services for Flood Damage monies.
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15(a).        PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

A - B A B

Net Value Gross Value Additions WIP WIP Disposals Write-offs Revaluation Closing Accum Dep'n Disposals Write-Offs Revaluation Closing Closing Residual

CATEGORIES Note Transferred from Reported at close of At Take-Ons Transfers Gross Gross and/or Gross Reported at close of Accumulated Accumulated or Indexation Annual Accumulated Written Down Value

Abolished Councils Abolished Councils Cost at Cost To Expense Value Value Indexation Abolished Councils Depreciation Depreciation Accum.Dep. Depreciation Depreciation Value

See Note 5(a)

LAND 15(b)(i) 8,288,969             8,288,969                -           396,038       (26,000)       -             3,564,994     12,224,000     -                   -            -            -             -                 12,224,000           12,224,000     

BUILDINGS 15(b)(ii) 55,313,172           68,510,572              13,478       761,541       -          -            (494,146)      774,143        69,565,588     (13,197,400)        -            97,650         6,531,537    (925,262)      (7,493,475)       62,072,113           12,491,000     

PLANT FLEET 15(b)(iii) 10,232,344           22,235,174              4,389,418  -             -          (1,174,860)   (2,792,201)   -              22,657,531     (12,002,830)        1,055,142   2,407,933    -             (2,203,798)   (10,743,554)     11,913,978           1,829,050       

EQUIPMENT 15(b)(iv) 1,211,446             4,322,745                55,790       38,532         -          -            (1,211,078)   -              3,205,989       (3,111,300)          -            1,195,318    -             (243,890)      (2,159,871)       1,046,118             4,875              

STORM DRAINS 15(b)(v) 956,657                1,164,018                18,485          1,182,503       (207,361)             -            -            4,229           (9,787)         (212,919)          969,583                408,325          

CITY ROADS 15(b)(vi) 65,599,824           71,970,818              -           1,090,618    -          -            -             487,688        73,549,125     (6,370,995)          -            -            1,926,149    (630,591)      (5,075,436)       68,473,689           26,717,172     

RURAL ROADS 15(b)(vii) 121,516,744         149,963,776            2,123,806    -            -             26,443,371   178,530,954   (28,447,032)        -            -            (5,773,337)   (1,229,066)   (35,449,435)     143,081,519         63,861,560     

WATER INFRASTRUCTURE 15(b)(viii) 33,032,625           57,315,252              490,711       -          -            (202,687)      1,114,618     58,717,894     (24,282,626)        -            133,844       (93,604)        (1,039,411)   (25,281,797)     33,436,097           -               

SEWERAGE INFRASTRUCTURE 15(b)(viii) 15,847,602           35,538,627              32,661         -            (17,448)        599,335        36,153,175     (19,691,025)        -            12,412         (313,104)      (755,812)      (20,747,529)     15,405,646           -               

Sub-Total 311,999,382         419,309,951            4,458,686  4,933,907    -          (1,200,860)   (4,717,560)   33,002,634   455,786,758   (107,310,569)      1,055,142   3,847,157    2,281,870    (7,037,616)   (107,164,016)   348,622,742         117,535,982   

Rounding -               

Work in Progress 15(c) 3,151,255             3,151,255                5,096,764  (4,933,907)   (145,639)   3,168,473       3,168,473             

TOTAL Property, Plant & Equipment 315,150,638         422,461,207            9,555,450  (0)                (145,639)   (1,200,860)   (4,717,560)   33,002,634   458,955,231   (107,310,569)      1,055,142   3,847,157    2,281,870    (7,037,616)   (107,164,016)   351,791,215         

`

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2009
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CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009 

 

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT Cont’d 
 
 15(b). Valuations of Non-Current Assets are determined as follows: 
  This note is to be read in conjunction with the table in Note 15(a). 
 

(i) Land 
Land has been included at current market value as at 30 June 2009 as determined by Australia 
Pacific Valuers, registered valuers.  

   
  Reserve Land and land under infrastructure have not been given a value for the purpose of these 

financial statements. 
 
(ii) Buildings 

Council buildings have been included at their written down current replacement cost as valued by 
Australia Pacific Valuers, registered valuers.  

 
(iii) Plant Fleet 

  Plant Fleet is measured at original cost less accumulated depreciation.  
 

(iv) Equipment 
`  Equipment is measured at original cost less accumulated depreciation. 
 

(v) Storm Drains 
Council valuation has been established by using reference to actual replacement works completed 
by Council, with estimates from professional engineers, and replacement costs provided by 
suppliers.  Valuation of storm drains is reviewed annually as at 30 June 2009.  

 
(vi) City Roads 

Council Includes city roads at the written down current replacement costs as at 30 June 2009 as 
determined by Australia Pacific Valuers, registered valuers.   

 
(vii) Rural Roads  

Council valuation has been established by using reference to actual replacement works completed 
by Council, with estimates from professional engineers, and replacement costs provided from 
suppliers. Valuation of rural roads is reviewed annually as at 30 June 2009.  

 
(viii) Water & Sewerage Infrastructure  

Unit rates on each component are either recalculated annually, or indexed using applicable 
indexes as per AECOM, consulting engineers. 
 

  Annually, additions, replacements and write-offs are adjusted and depreciated on a straight line 
basis. 

 
 15(c). Capital Work in Progress 
 

Land 160,052  

Buildings 761,786 

Sporting & Recreation Facilities 19,415 

Plant Fleet 669,365 

Information Systems Equipment 196,388 

Water Equipment 62,125 

Sewerage Equipment 78,285 

Storm Drains & Quarry 10,708 

City Roads & Carparks 706,824 

Rural Roads 387,642 

Water Infrastructure 110,043 

Sewerage Infrastructure 5,840 

  3,168,473  



Council

2009

16. Trade and Other Payables

(a)  Current

Sundry Creditors, including Contract Retentions 2,052,571                            

Employee Benefits - Annual Leave 1,405,672                            

Employee Benefits - RDO and TOIL 49,138                                 

3,507,381                            

(b)  Non-Current

Annual Leave 470,503                               

470,503                               

17. Borrowings

(a)  Current

Loans - QTC 189,585                               

189,585                               

(b)  Non-Current

Loans - QTC 385,667                               

385,667                               

(c)  Loan Summary

        Queensland Treasury Corporation

Transferred from Charters Towers City and Dalrymple Shire Councils as 

part of Government restructure 798,302                               

Loans raised -                                      

Repayments (276,385)                             

Interest 53,334                                 

Book value at period end 575,252                               

Classified as:

Current 189,585                               

Non-Current 385,667                               

575,252                               

18. Provisions

(a)  Current

Long Service Leave 100,000                               

100,000                               

(b)  Non-Current

Long Service Leave 1,417,167                            

1,417,167                            

(c)  Long Service Leave Summary

Transferred from Charters Towers City and Dalrymple Shire Councils as 

part of Government restructure 1,522,247                            

Long service leave entitlement arising 122,125                               

Long service leave entitlement extinguished (68,934)                               

Long service leave entitlement paid (58,271)                               

Balance at the end of the period 1,517,167                            

Classified as:

Current 100,000                               

Non-Current 1,417,167                            

1,517,167                            

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009

The loan market value at 30 June 2009 is $576,210.05.  This represents the value of the debt if the Council 

repaid it at that date.  As it is the intention of Council to hold the debt for its term, no provision is required to be 

made in these accounts.  Council's loan borrowings are entirely represented by loans from Queensland 

Treasury Corporation (QTC).  The interest rates on QTC borrowings range from 5.12% to 8.93%.  Borrowings 

are all in Australian dollar denominated amounts.
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Council

2009

19.  Retained Surplus

Movements in the retained surplus were as follows:

Retained surplus/(deficit) at the beginning of financial year -                             

Gain on restructure of local government 5 (a) 338,407,969              

Net result attributable to Council within the reporting period 4,476,396                  

Transfers (to) capital reserves for future capital project funding,

or (from) reserve funds that have been expended:

Future Capital Works Reserve (1,845,000)                 

Constrained Works Reserve (72,733)                      

Transfers (to) recurrent reserves for future project funding,

or (from) reserve funds that have been expended:

Long Service Leave Reserve (580,000)                    

IT Provision Reserve (368,020)                    

Special Projects Reserve (1,516,576)                 

Transfer (to)/from Council Capital 20 (332,537,290)             

Retained Surplus at the end of the reporting period 5,964,746                  

20. Council Capital

(a) Movement

Opening Balance -                             

Transfer from Retained Surplus 332,537,290              

Council Capital at the end of the reporting period 332,537,290              

(b) Summary of Account

Written Down Value of Assets (excludes Revaluation Component) 316,506,713              

Community Loans 197,100                     

Unspent Funded Depreciation 12,215,133                

Loan Capital (575,252)                    

Working Capital Assets 9,102,647                  

Working Capital Liabilities (5,495,052)                 

Funded Working Capital 586,000                     

Council Capital at the end of the reporting period 332,537,290              

 

Note

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009
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CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009 

 

21. ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE 
As the start of the newly amalgamated Council on 15 March 2008, the Asset Revaluation Reserve had a 
nil value.  Movements represent fair value adjustments during the reporting period.  See Note 1(w)(ii). 
 
 Opening Balance 

15/03/2008 
Fair Value 

Adjustment 
Closing Balance 

30/06/2009 
Water Infrastructure - 1,043,727 1,043,727 
Sewerage Infrastructure - 286,230 286,230 
City Roads - 2,413,837 2,413,837 
Rural Roads - 20,670,035 20,670,035 
Buildings - 7,305,680 7,305,680 
Land - 3,564,993 3,564,993 
TOTAL ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE - 35,284,502 35,284,502 

 
When this account at $35,284,502 is combined to the written down value component of assets held within 
the Capital account at $316,506,713 (see note 20b), the actual written down value of assets is 
represented, being $351,791,215. 
 

22. OTHER RESERVES 
 See Statement of Changes in Equity on page 4 for a summary of reserve balances and the movement 

within each reserve during the reporting period. 
 

Commitments for Reserve Expenditure 2009 

Monies towards a heated 25 metre pool  737,500 

Upgrade of regional computer server plus radio links to remote facilities 220,000 
 957,500 

       
23. OPERATING ACTIVITIES CASH RECONCILIATION  

Reconciliation of result from operating activities within the Income Statement to net cash inflow 
(outflow) from operating activities in the Cash Flow Statement 

  

 2009 

Result from operating activities 4,476,396 
   Non-cash operating items:  
 Depreciation and amortisation 7,037,616 
 Write-offs to property, plant and equipment 870,403 
 Opening WIP moved to expense 145,639 
 Interest on Borrowings 53,334 
 Community Loan Interest charged    (20,955) 
  8,086,038 
Investing and development activities:  
 Net (profit) loss on disposal of non current assets (300,758) 
 Capital grants and contributions (3,186,986) 
 (3,487,744) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:  
 (Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (6,819,787) 
 (Increase) decrease in financial assets (40,889) 
 (Increase) decrease in inventories (95,400) 
 Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables  1,227,725 
 Increase (decrease) in provisions       (5,080) 

  (5,733,431) 

 
Net cash inflow from operating activities 

 
3,341,258 
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CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL COUNCIL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the period 15 March 2008 to 30 June 2009 

 

24.     TRUST FUNDS HELD FOR OUTSIDE PARTIES 

 
Council 

2009 

Monies held in Trust are as follows:  

Drought Relief Appeal Funds 29,451 

Sundries 62,545 

Sale Property – Non Payment Rates 13,138 

Animal Trap Deposits 55 

Relocation of Buildings 29,256 

Subdivision – Roadworks 109,482 

Subdivision – Water Connections 58,230 

Subdivision – Sewerage Connections 21,684 

Temporary Library Memberships 1,313 

Arthur Titley Centre Hire Security Deposits 6,368 

Equestrian Centre Hire Security Deposits 2,495 

Cemetery/Monument Works 724 

Tourism Incentive Program 9,161 

Lissner Park Security Deposits  300 

TOTAL 344,202 

 

The Charters Towers Regional Council performs only a custodial role in respect of these monies.  As 
these funds cannot be used by the Council, they are not brought to account in these financial statements. 
 

 
25. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE 
 There were no material adjusting events after the balance date. 
 
 

26. SUPERANNUATION 
 

The Charters Towers Regional Council contributes to the Local Government Superannuation Scheme 
(Qld) (the scheme). The scheme is a Multi-employer Plan as defined in the Australian Accounting 
Standard AASB119 Employee Benefits. The scheme has two elements referred to as the Defined 
Benefits Scheme (DBF) and the Accumulation Benefits Fund (ABF). 

 
The ABF is a defined contribution scheme as defined in AASB119.  Council has no liability to or 
interest in the ABF other than the payment of the statutory contributions as required by the Local 
Government Act. 
 
The DBF is a defined benefit plan as defined in AASB119.  The Council is not able to account for the 
DBF as a defined benefit plan in accordance with AASB119 because the scheme is unable to account 
to the Council for its proportionate share of the defined benefit obligation, plan assets and costs. 
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26. SUPERANNUATION Cont’d 
 

Under amendments to the Local Government Act 1993 passed in June 2009, the trustee of the 
scheme has the power to levy additional contributions on councils which have employees in the DBF 
when the actuary advises such additional contributions are payable – normally when the assets of the 
DBF are insufficient to meet members’ benefits.  Clause 56(e) of the scheme’s Trust Deed indicates 
that any increase in the contributions is limited to 6% of the relevant employee’s salary. 
 
In its letter to Council dated 5 June 2009 the trustee advised that “at this stage, there is no requirement 
for Councils to contribute any additional contributions.”  The letter further stated that “any additional 
contributions above 12% (standard rate of contribution) that may be required would be on a temporary 
basis only, and would be requested based on independent actuarial advice.  When possible, the 
contribution rate would reduce at a later date to offset additional costs – for example, councils may be 
asked to pay 18% contributions instead of 12% for a period, then contributions may reduce to 6% for a 
compensatory period before returning to the regular 12% contribution rate.” 
 
Any amount by which either fund is over or under funded would only affect future benefits and 
contributions to the DBF, and is not an asset or liability of the council.  Accordingly there is no 
recognition in the financial statements of any over or under funding of the scheme. 
 
The audited general purpose financial report of the scheme as at 30 June 2009 (the most recent 
available) which was not subject to any audit qualification, indicates that the assets of the scheme are 
sufficient to meet the vested benefits. 
 
The general purpose financial report discloses that the most recent actuarial assessment of the 
scheme was undertaken as at 1 July 2006.  The actuary indicated that without improvements to benefit 
conditions, or other unanticipated events, current contribution rates would be sufficient to meet 
member benefits as they accrue.   
 
The Queensland Local Government Superannuation Board, the trustee of the scheme, advised that 
the local government superannuation scheme was a complying superannuation scheme for the 
purpose of the Commonwealth Superannuation Industry (Supervision) legislation. 
 

The amount of superannuation contributions paid by Charters Towers Regional Council to the scheme 
in this period for the benefit of employees was $1,720,105. 

 
27. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 

At 30 June 2009, there were no Capital commitments to report. 
 
28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

Workers’ Compensation Insurance 
Charters Towers Regional Council is a member of the Local Government Self-Insurance Scheme, 
Local Government Workcare.  As a member of the scheme, the Council has provided a Bank 
Guarantee in the amount of $316,405 to cover any bad debts which may remain should the self 
insurance licence be cancelled or insufficient funds be available to cover outstanding liabilities. 
Workcare Queensland is the only organisation which can call on the guarantee.  Workcare may call on 
any part or all of the guarantee should the above circumstances arise. 
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28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (cont’d) 
 

Public Liability Insurance 
Charters Towers Regional Council is a member of the Local Government Mutual Liability Self 
Insurance Pool, LGM Queensland.  The Trust Deed and Scheme Rules of the Pool provide that any 
accumulated deficit will be met by individual Pool Members in the same proportion to the contributions 
of all other Pool Members as the initial contribution by the Pool Members to all other Pool Members for 
that Fund year.  As at 30 June 2008, the Fund reported a surplus of funds of $10,053,438 and it is not 
anticipated an liability will arise. 
 

 
29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Charters Towers Regional Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks – currency risk, 
interest rate risk, commodity risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 
Financial risk management is implemented in accordance with Council’s policy on financial risk 
management.  These policies focus on managing the volatility of financial markets and seek to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of Council. 

 
Charters Towers Regional Council measures risk exposure using a variety of methods as follows –  
 
Risk Exposure    Measurement Method 
 
(i)  Credit Risk    Ageing Analysis, Earnings at Risk 
(ii)  Liquidity Risk    Maturity Analysis  
(iii) Foreign Exchange Risk  No exposure 
(iv) Interest Rate Risk   Sensitivity Analysis 
  
 
 (i) Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk exposure refers to the situation where Council may incur financial loss as a result of another 
party to a financial instrument failing to discharge their obligation. 
 
In the case of rate receivables, Council has the power to sell the property to recover any defaulted 
amounts.  In effect this power protects Council against credit risk in the case of these debts. 
 
In other cases Council assesses the credit risk before providing goods or services and applies normal 
business credit protection procedures to minimise the risk.  Council is exposed to credit risk through 
investments with the Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) and deposits held with banks or other 
financial institutions.  The QTC Cash Fund is an asset management portfolio that invests with a wide 
variety of high credit rating counterparties.  Deposits are capital guaranteed.  Other investments are 
held with highly rated/regulated banks and financial institutions and whilst not capital guaranteed, the 
likelihood of a credit failure is remote. 
 
By the nature of Council operations, there is geographical concentration of risk in Council’s area.  
Because the area is largely agricultural, there is also a concentration in the grazing sector. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial 
asset is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment. 
 
No collateral is held as security relating to the financial assets held by Council. 
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d) 
 
The following table represents Council’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 
 

 30-Jun-09 

   $ 

Financial Assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 23,153,700 

Receivables – Rates 182,530 

Loans to Community Organisations 232,151 

Other Debtors 7,725,945 

Total 31,294,326 

 
Past due or impaired 
No financial assets have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or 
impaired and are stated at the carrying amounts as indicated. 
 
The following table represents an analysis of the age of Council’s financial assets that are either fully 
performing, past due or impaired. 
 

Fully 
Performing 

Past Due Impaired Total 

 

 
30-60 
Days 

61-90 
Days 

More 
than 90 

Says 

 
 

 

Financial 
Assets 

      

Other Debtors 5,607,864 2,096,013 9,903 12,165  7,725,945 

       

 
(ii) Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk refers to the situation where Council may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities.  Council is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal 
course of business and borrowings from Queensland Treasury Corporation for capital works. 
 
Council manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient undrawn facilities, both short 
and long term, to cater for unexpected volatility in cash flows. 
 
The following table sets out the liquidity risk of financial liabilities held by Council.  The amounts 
disclosed in the maturity analysis represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows at balance date. 

 
Contractual Maturity of Financial Liabilities 

 

Financial 
Liabilities 

0 to 1 year 1 to 5 Years Over 5 Years 
Total Financial 

Liabilities 

 $ $ $ $ 

2009 160,986 329,092 85,174 575,252 
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d) 
 

(iii) Foreign Exchange Risk 
 
Foreign exchange risk arises when future transactions are denominated in non-Australian currency. 
 
Charters Towers Regional Council operates locally and is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

 
(iv) Interest Rate Risk 
 
Council is exposed to interest rate risk through its borrowings from the Queensland Treasury 
Corporation and investments held with financial institutions.  The risk in borrowing is effectively 
managed by borrowing from Queensland Treasury Corporation and having access to a mix of fixed 
and floating funding sources such that the desired interest rate risk exposure can be constructed. 
 
The fair value interest rate risk in other areas is minimal. 
Council does not undertake any hedging of interest rate risk. 
 
Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis 
 
The following sensitivity analysis is based on a report similar to that which would be provided to 
management, depicting the outcome to profit and loss should there be a 1% increase in market 
interest rates.  The calculations assume that the rate would be held constant over the next financial 
year, with the change occurring at the beginning of that year.  It is assumed that interest rates on 
overdue rates would not change.  If the rates decreased by 1% the impact would be equal in amount in 
the reverse direction. 

 
 Net Carrying Amount Profit Equity 

 30 June 2009 30 June 2009 30 June 2009 

Financial Assets - 312,943 312,943 

Financial Liabilities 5,753 -5,753 -5,753 

Net 5,753 307,190 307,190 
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